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Monday, September 19, 2011


--- On commencing at 9:39 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  The Board sits today on a matter of an application by Union Gas distribution filed by Union Gas distribution on April 18th, 2011 under Section 36 of the Ontario Energy Board Act.  The application is for an order of the Board amending or varying the rate or rates charged by customers as of October 1st, 2011 in connection with the sharing of 2010 earnings under the incentive rate mechanism approved by the Board, as well as final disposition of 2010 year-end deferral account and other balances.


The application also requests approval for a cost allocation methodology, which is to be used to allocate costs between Union's regulated and unregulated businesses.


The Board has assigned file number EB-2011-0038 to the application.


Procedural Orders No. 1 and 2 were issued in due course, setting out the procedural arrangements pertaining to, among other things, the schedule for interrogatories and responses, the establishment of the intervenors, and the procedures to deal with intervenor evidence, as well as the establishment of a technical conference, a settlement conference, and a settlement proposal.


By letter dated August 9th, 2011, Union advised the Board that the company and the intervenors were unable to reach a settlement.  On August 15th, 2011, CME filed a notice of motion for the Board, for a Board order requiring Union to provide the amount of a one-time adjustment to the balance of deferral account number 179-72, that pertains to long-term peak storage services, to reflect corrections for Union's use in its calculation of deferral account balances for 2008, 2009, and 2010 of certain items that CME alleges were unauthorized and do not constitute costs of providing unregulated storage services.


The motion also requested an order of the Board requiring Union to provide calculations of the return on equity it earned from its unregulated storage assets for 2008 and 2010 in a particular format.


Procedural Order No. 3 was issued on August 24th, 2011, setting out the process for addressing the CME motion. On September 6th, 2011, Union filed a notice of motion for a Board order granting Union leave to file the affidavit of Chris Ripley, sworn August 31st, 2011 in response to the motion brought by CME.


Procedural Order No. 4 was issued on September 8th, setting out the process for addressing the Union motion.  By letter dated September 9th, 2011, Union advised that the parties had agreed to a resolution of the motions brought by CME and Union, subject to the execution of minutes of settlement pertaining to the resolution.


The Board is in receipt of the minutes of settlement dated September 13th, 2011 that contain the terms upon which Union and CME have agreed to withdraw their respective motions.


We have two days scheduled, over which time we expect to hear witnesses of both the applicant and intervenors and to have these witnesses available for cross-examination.  My name is Ken Quesnelle, and I will be presiding over these proceedings, and with me on the Panel is Board member Cathy Spoel.


I will take appearances, please.

Appearances:


MR. SMITH:  Good morning, members of the Board.  Crawford Smith, on behalf of Union Gas.  To my left is Chris Ripley from Union Gas, and to my right, immediate right, Mark Kitchen, also from Union Gas, and one over from Mr. Kitchen is Alex Smith, a colleague of mine at Torys, making his first appearance before the Board.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, Mr. Smith.


MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren, for the Consumers Council of Canada.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Warren.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Jim Gruenbauer, on behalf of the Corporation of City of Kitchener.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning.


MR. THOMPSON:  Peter Thompson for Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Thompson.


MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn, on behalf of Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MR. MacINTOSH:  David MacIntosh, for Energy Probe.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. AIKEN:  Randy Aiken, for the London Property Management Association.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Aiken.


MS. SEBALJ:  Kristi Sebalj, Board Staff.  With me is Lawrie Gluck, and we may also be joined by Khalil Viraney.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Any preliminary matters to deal with this morning?

Preliminary Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Just a few preliminary matters, if I may, members of the Board.  You should have been provided with curriculum vitae for the witnesses we intend to call this morning or over the next couple of days, and I would ask that those be marked as an exhibit.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Do we have those here, Ms. Sebalj, or...?


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, it should be in a package right in front of you.  The top line is "statement of qualifications".


MR. QUESNELLE:  We have it.


MS. SEBALJ:  It's K1.1.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CURRICULUM VITAE OF WITNESSES

MR. SMITH:  Second, as alluded to, there were minutes of settlement agreed to by the parties resolving both the Union motion and CME motion, which have been filed with the Board, and I would propose that those be marked as an exhibit in this proceeding as well.  And you should have those, members of the Panel.


MS. SEBALJ:  This is the package, Union Gas Limited -- it starts with "Union Gas Limited loss revenue adjustment mechanism, breakdown of 2010 LRAM deferral account balances".


MR. SMITH:  No.


MS. SEBALJ:  Oh, sorry, it's the minutes of settlement.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, I don't think I put them in front of you, Panel, because I knew you had them in your binders, but I can put them in front of you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  And that will be K1.2.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  MINUTES OF SETTLEMENT

MR. SMITH:  And finally, members of the Panel, there was a letter filed by Union Gas on September 15th, last week, relating to the issue of space deemed unavailable, and I would ask that that letter be marked as an exhibit, as Exhibit K1.3, if I may.


MR. QUESNELLE:  What was the subject matter of that letter again, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  Space deemed unavailable.  It was -- the "re" line for the letter is a reference to this proceeding, 2010 earnings sharing and disposition of deferral account and other balances, and the first paragraph begins "we are writing further to delivery of Union's interrogatories".


MR. QUESNELLE:  We have that, thank you.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


MS. SPOEL:  Is there an extra copy of that?  I don't have my binder with me...


MR. SMITH:  Of the letter?


MS. SPOEL:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we do.


MS. SPOEL:  I just don't happen to have it with me in the room.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  That will be K1.3.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, K1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  LETTER FILED BY UNION GAS 15 SEPTEMBER 2011

MR. SMITH:  Those are the preliminary matters.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


Any other matters?  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, Mr. Chairman.  Perhaps my friend could mark the letter that they wrote to us of September 15, 2011, with the calculations.  Would that be appropriate, Mr. Smith, now?


MR. SMITH:  That's fine, Mr. Thompson.  I don't have copies of it, but...


MS. SEBALJ:  This is the letter that begins "on September 13, 2011, Union Gas filed minutes of settlement"?  Is that correct?  Okay.  I only have one copy for the moment, Panel, which I'll provide to you, but I will make copies on the break.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  It will be K1.4.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  LETTER OF 15 SEPTEMBER 2011 WITH CALCULATIONS

MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, if I may, I would like to call Union Gas's first panel, comprising, to my immediate left, Mr. Russ Feingold, from Black & Veatch, Ms. Linda Vienneau, Mr. Greg Tetreault, and Ms. Pat Elliott to come forward and be sworn.

UNION GAS - PANEL 1


Pat Elliott; sworn.


Greg Tetreault; sworn.


Linda Vienneau; sworn.


Russell Feingold; sworn.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, before I begin with a brief examination-in-chief, I just thought for information purposes I should advise you this panel is intended to address the questions of cost allocation and the non-S&T deferral accounts.


Our panel 2, which will look precariously close to this panel, will address the S&T deferral accounts.  And this was the way in which we had done it at the Technical conference, and so for continuity's sake, we have preserved that.


Beginning first with Ms. Elliott.  Ms. Elliott, I understand that you are the controller of Union Gas Ltd.?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That is correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that is a position that you have held since 2008?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have been with Union Gas for some time?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's true.


MR. SMITH:  And you have held positions, either controller or related to Union's financial controls dating back at least to 1997; is that correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have a bachelor of mathematics degree from the University of Waterloo?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you are a chartered accountant?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  You are also a member of the Canadian Institute of Chartered Accountants?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I am.


MR. SMITH:  And the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And we see from page 2 of your curriculum vitae that you have testified before this Board on roughly two dozen occasions, that are listed here?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Were you involved or assisted in the preparation of Union's prefiled evidence in this proceeding?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I was.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying here today?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And similarly, were you involved in or responsible for the preparation of answers to interrogatories asked in respect of that evidence?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying here today?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  Mr. Tetreault, I understand that you are the manager of rates and pricing at Union Gas?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that's a position that you have held since 2008?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you held positions in gas management services, dating back to at least 1999; is that correct?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have an honours bachelor degree of commerce, with a specialization in finance, from the University of Windsor?


MR. TETREAULT:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And you have a geography degree from the University of Windsor, as well?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have testified before this Board on prior occasions, including in relation to the clearance of deferral accounts, as in this application?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And were you involved or assisted in the preparation of Union's prefiled evidence in this proceeding?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I was.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?


MR. TETREAULT:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And similarly, were you involved or assisted in the preparation of answers to interrogatories in respect of Union's prefiled evidence?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt those answers for the purposes of testifying today?


MR. TETREAULT:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  Ms. Vienneau, I understand that you are the manager of plant accounting at Union Gas?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have held that position since 2008?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you have been with Union Gas since 2004; is that correct?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And prior to that, you worked for AIG?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  In Bermuda?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you chose to come here?


I understand you have a bachelor of mathematics degree from the University of Waterloo?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes, I do.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you are, as well, a chartered accountant?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you obtained your CA designation in, roughly, 1996?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you are also a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of Ontario?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And the CICA, the Institute of Canada?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Correct.


MR. SMITH:  And this is your first appearance before the Board?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Now, were you involved in the preparation or assisted in the preparation of Union's prefiled evidence?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes, I was.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?


MS. VIENNEAU:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And similarly, were you involved or did you assist in the preparation of answers to interrogatories asked in respect of that evidence?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes, I was.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?


MS. VIENNEAU:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Feingold, I understand that you are the vice-president, ratemaking and financial planning services at Black & Veatch; is that correct?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I am.


MR. SMITH:  And you are or hold the title of area lead, ratemaking and financial planning services group at Black & Veatch; is that correct?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And what are your responsibilities in that position, sir?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I am responsible for managing a group of professionals that are primarily involved in a wide range of costing and ratemaking matters associated with gas and electric utilities in North America.


MR. SMITH:  Were you retained by Union Gas to conduct a study of Union's cost allocation methodology for the allocation of cost between Union's regulated and unregulated storage operations?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I was.


MR. SMITH:  And similarly, were you involved in studying or examining the attribution of revenues to deferral accounts 179-70 and 179-72?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I was.


MR. SMITH:  And is that the study that can be found at Exhibit A, tab 4, attachment 1, Mr. Feingold?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, it is.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that study for the purposes of testifying here today?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And similarly, were you involved in the preparation of interrogatories asked in respect of your study?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I was.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt those for the purposes of testifying today?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  Now, Mr. Feingold, returning to your...


Members of the Panel, I believe that Mr. Feingold's CV may not have been provided as part of the package marked as Exhibit K1.1.  And we either have or will have copies – oh, we have copies?  Okay.


Perhaps that should be marked as an exhibit, as well, if it was not included in K1.1.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is in the package.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  My apologies.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  Mr. Feingold, returning to your CV, do you have that at hand?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have an electrical engineering degree, which you obtained in 1973 from Washington University?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have a master's in financial management from Polytechnic Institute of New York?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That is correct.


MR. SMITH:  Which you obtained in 1977?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have been with Black & Veatch since 2007; is that correct?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That correct.


MR. SMITH:  Prior to that, you were employed by Navigant?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, Navigant Consulting.


MR. SMITH:  And for what period of time were you employed by Navigant?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Approximately 10 years as a managing director in the firm.


MR. SMITH:  And before Navigant, with whom were you employed?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I was employed with a number of other management consulting firms, including PriceWaterhouse, Stone & Webster Management Consultants and RJ Rudden Associates, which is now part of Black & Veatch.


MR. SMITH:  And for how long -- well, let me back up.


I understand from your CV that you specialize in the areas of energy and utilities industries, advising energy clients pertaining to, among other things, costing and pricing; is that correct?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That is correct.


MR. SMITH:  And for how long have you been engaged in that line of work?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Approximately 33 years I have been in that field.


MR. SMITH:  And am I correct that your areas of interest include, specifically, cost allocation and rate design?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, cost allocation and rate design for gas distribution utilities, electric distribution utilities, and interstate gas pipeline companies.


MR. SMITH:  I ask you to turn to page 8 of your CV, sir.


I understand from your CV that you have been accepted as an expert to provide testimony before this Board on prior occasions?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That is correct.


MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have similarly testified and been accepted as an expert to testify before various state utilities and provincial regulators?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That is correct, as well.


MR. SMITH:  As well as FERC, as I understand it?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And has your testimony in those cases included in respect to the issues of cost allocation?


MR. FEINGOLD:  It has.  A major focus of my testimony presented to the various regulatory bodies over the last 33 years has focused on cost allocation for gas distribution utilities in particular.


MR. SMITH:  And if I can ask you to turn to page 9 of your CV, sir.  Under the heading "publications and presentations", is this a list of publications and presentations given by you?


MR. FEINGOLD:  It is.


MR. SMITH:  And similarly, do those publications or presentations touch on the issues of cost allocation and rate design?


MR. FEINGOLD:  They do to a large extent, as you can see by the titles and topics of the presentations.


MR. SMITH:  I ask you to turn to page 15, after a number of pages of publications and presentations.  Can I ask you to turn to page 15 of your CV, sir.  Under "educational and training activities", referring to the third item under that list, I see that you are a course organizer and speaker at the annual industry course put on by the American Gas Association; is that correct?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, as the chairman of the rate-training sub-committee of the American Gas Association, that is the sub-committee that conducts that course each year at various universities in the United States.


MR. SMITH:  And what is your area of emphasis, if any, as a course organizer and speaker?


MR. FEINGOLD:  The session that I lead and teach at that course is dealing with ratemaking and cost allocation issues for gas distribution utilities.


MR. SMITH:  And you have been engaged as a course organizer and speaker since 1985; is that correct?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, I would ask that Mr. Feingold be qualified and admitted to provide expert testimony to this Board on the issues of cost allocation and rate design.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Any objections from the...?  No?  Thank you.  We will, thank you, Mr. Smith.


MR. SMITH:  Members of the Panel, Mr. Feingold's report has been filed and adopted in evidence, so I don't propose to review it at any great length, but there are a couple of things that I would like to bring out, if I may be permitted.


Mr. Feingold, can I ask you to turn, please, to page 1-5 of your study?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I have it.


MR. SMITH:  Now, were you, as a result of your study, able to reach an overall assessment with respect to Union's cost allocation method and your examination of the attribution of revenues and costs to the two deferral accounts in issue?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I was.


MR. SMITH:  And what was your overall conclusion?


MR. FEINGOLD:  As indicated on page 1.5, in my opinion, the conceptual underpinnings and resulting or associated methodologies upon which Union's cost allocation process is based are well-conceived, thorough, and reasonable in their treatment of storage-related plants and expenses.  I did point out, however, on this page that, in my view, the presentation of the separation of costs between its regulated and unregulated storage operations fails to demonstrate those positive attributes by not providing a sufficient level of detail and explanation.  In fact, that's why this report was included in Union's evidence in this proceeding, by virtue of the number of schedules that were included in the report that tries to provide a more detailed audit trail and explanation on how the cost allocation process is conducted by Union.


MR. SMITH:  Can I ask you to turn to page 1 -- or 1-3 of your study, sir.  And can you just summarize briefly for the Board the steps you took to arrive at your overall assessment?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  I believe there were three steps related to the work task that Black & Veatch chose to undertake in the study.  The first was to review and evaluate Union's cost allocation and accounting processes for its unregulated and regulated underground storage operations and then make recommendations on any changes to those underlying assumptions and methodologies.


Secondly, we were tasked with reviewing and evaluating Union's revenue and cost allocations between its two deferral accounts used to track both short- and long-term storage contracts and make recommendations on any changes to the underlying assumptions and calculations.


One aspect of that was to reconcile the storage sold by Union to the physical storage space owned by Union, and then finally, we were tasked with developing a written report that this exhibit constitutes that presents our detailed findings and recommendations.


MR. SMITH:  Now, just looking down at page 1-3, Mr. Feingold, under the heading "guiding considerations and areas of concentration", can you advise the Board what is referred to as guiding considerations and areas of concentration and why that's included in this study?


MR. FEINGOLD:  It's included to provide a framework and a context for the primary focus that Black & Veatch chose to take in the review and the study.  By definition, cost allocation is a process that requires a recognition of what I would characterize as cost causation principles.  You are trying to establish a relationship between the requirements of customers and the costs that are incurred by the utility in satisfying those requirements.


And so these guiding considerations and areas of concentration were laid out as a backdrop so that parties could understand exactly why cost causation was an important consideration in evaluating a cost allocation process and study.


MR. SMITH:  So just to expand on that, if you can, Mr. Feingold, looking at item number 3, a key consideration, what is being referred to there and why the particular example?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, as I just alluded to in the previous answer, one of the key elements of conducting a reasonable cost allocation study is to establish operating relationships between the customer-service requirements, for example peak day, capacity needs of a customer, relative to the costs that are incurred by the utility in meeting those requirements.


And so, for example, in item 3, under Section 1.2, I have a parenthetical that provides an example of what I mean by that, and I show that a customer's peak demand requirements that are being satisfied are through the incurrence of capacity-related costs providing the required level of gas delivery service.


So in other words, if a utility is designing its capacity needs based on the worst-case design considerations, a peak day or a peak hour, and that is what's driving the incurrence of the costs of those facilities to meet customers' needs, that should be the basis for capturing cost causation within the context of a cost allocation study.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you very much, Mr. Feingold, for that explanation.


I have just one final question or series of questions, and this is actually to you, Mr. Tetreault, in relation to Exhibit K1.3.  Do you have that?


MR. TETREAULT:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And this is a letter that, as the letter indicates, expands upon Union's response of Exhibit B3.59, dealing with the issue of space deemed unavailable.  And if I could just ask you to advise the Board, who is it that is bearing the costs associated with that space deemed unavailable?


MR. TETREAULT:  In-franchise ratepayers.


MR. SMITH:  And from Union's perspective, is that an appropriate outcome?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, it is.


MR. SMITH:  And why so, sir?


MR. TETREAULT:  It's appropriate because it follows the Board-approved methodology that was approved in our 2007 cost allocation study, which seeks to allocate space based on our official working capacity, official storage working capacity, which includes space deemed unavailable.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Tetreault.


Those are the questions in examination-in-chief, and I would tender the panel for cross-examination.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.


Do we have an agreed-to order, Mr. Warren?


MR. WARREN:  I don't believe so, but I have no questions for this panel.  My questions relate only to the second panel coming up.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  I am in the same position as Mr. Warren, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.


MR. AIKEN:  I am happy to go first.  And I will be about five minutes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  First of all, I have a compendium that I have filed that I will be referring to today and tomorrow, so if we could have an exhibit number for that?


MS. SEBALJ:  I did put that in front of you this morning.  It will be K1.5.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  COMPENDIUM OF CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FOR LPMA


MR. AIKEN:  As I noted, I just have a couple of questions, and they are related to the unabsorbed demand charge correction for 2007 through 2009.


I am sorry, does everyone have a copy of my compendium?


MR. TETREAULT:  I do.


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  This is discussed in the CME Interrogatory No. 1, at Exhibit B2.1, which is in the compendium at pages 1 and 2.


So first, when did Union become aware of this error?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think it was in the early part of 2010.  I can't remember the exact month.  We became aware of it in enough time to correct the accounting in 2010.


MR. AIKEN:  When did Union tell intervenors and the Board about this miscalculation?


MS. ELLIOTT:  From my recollection, it would be in the course of this proceeding.


MR. AIKEN:  And would it, in fact, be the response to this interrogatory?  The reason I ask is that I don't remember anything in the prefiled evidence that dealt with this error.


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think that's correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Looking at the attachment to the interrogatory response on page 2 of the compendium, can you explain to me how the actual UDC unit rate is set each year?


MR. TETREAULT:  The actual UDC rate really -- really is based on the 2007 Board-approved volumes, particularly for the north, which are then updated as required for any TCPL toll updates that may occur from time to time.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, Mr. Tetreault, you just touched on it, but I note that the error in the UDC rate appears to be limited to the north.


Why was there no corresponding error associated with the UDC rates in the south for the 2007 through 2009 period?


MR. TETREAULT:  My understanding is that related to the south, while we also use 2007 Board-approved volumes, the toll that is assumed in that unit rate has been stable from that period forward.


MR. AIKEN:  For that period?  I think there has been some changes since 2009?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I believe we assume a Panhandle pipeline-related toll for south UDC, which has been stable for some period of time.


MR. AIKEN:  And finally, has Union included interest on the incremental balance of the 1.931 million, based on when the balances were created, had the error not taken place?


In other words, are you including interest on, for example, the 2007 balance as it should have been?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't know the answer to that question.  I would have to check.


MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to do that, please?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  We will.


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.


MS. SEBALJ:  We will mark that as Undertaking J1.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  to CONFIRM WHETHER UNION INCLUDED INTEREST ON THE INCREMENTAL BALANCE, BASED ON WHEN THE BALANCES WERE CREATED, HAD THE ERROR NOT TAKEN PLACE.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


Mr. Shepherd, I see you.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I have a small package of materials, as well.  It starts "Union Gas Limited loss revenue adjustment mechanism."


Copies have been provided to the Panel, I believe, and the witnesses and, I think, all my friends have them.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, and we will mark it as K1.6.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  COMPENDIUM OF CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FOR SEC


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so good morning, witnesses.  I am counsel for the School Energy Coalition, and I have questions in the area of LRAM and SSM.


But before I do that, I just want to ask, when each of you adopted your responses to interrogatories as your evidence, did you intend in that to include your responses to questions at the technical conference and technical conference undertakings?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  I am sorry.  The questions were specific.  If my friend wants to put the technical conference to the witnesses, he is perfectly entitled to do so, but the technical conference is -- as the Board will know -- is typically unsworn testimony.


So in the normal course, I don't think that this matters one little bit, but I do think that there is some merit in preserving at least the distinction that has been maintained by the Board.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Mr. Chairman, I am asking the witnesses to adopt the technical conference answers as their sworn testimony.


MR. SMITH:  That is a perfectly appropriate question.  That wasn't the question that I heard.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


MS. ELLIOTT:  I can do that, yes.


MR. TETREAULT:  I do, as well.


MS. VIENNEAU:  Yes.


MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you very much.


Now, I want to start with your LRAM account.  And you will see in page 1 of our materials, this is a chart of the LRAM you are claiming.  You are claiming a total of 2,383,992; is that correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that has two components to it, right?  That has about 1.7 from 2009, which is an audited figure, and about 677,000 from 2010, which is an unaudited figure, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Then if you turn to the next page, this is a breakdown of your SSM claim in this proceeding; is that right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you are seeking to recover about $5,985,000; that's right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's right.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And of that, $170,000 credit is a true-up of your amount for 2009, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's an audited amount?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And 6 million 156 is a 2010 claim, which has not been audited, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The results that we are disposing of here are the unaudited results.  That's correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And so for these two accounts, if my math is right -- and I will ask you to accept this, subject to check or confirm -- you are asking for 1,536,909 recovery from ratepayers based on audited results, and 6,832,323 based on unaudited results; is that right?  Or will you accept that, subject --


MS. ELLIOTT:  I will take that, subject to check, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  And you are proposing that the clear-up of the unaudited 2010 amounts be subject to a true-up next year, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  That's the methodology that we used to dispose of our DSM deferral accounts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, that 170,000 that we see here as the net amount for SSM, that's, in fact, a true-up from last year, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you just take a look at page 4 of our materials, this is a summary presented by your Ms. Falvo.  She is the person in charge of your audit at Union, right, Victoria Falvo?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I will have to take that, subject to check.  I am not aware of...


MR. SHEPHERD:  This is a slide presented by her as to the final results of the 2009 audit.


And if I understand this correctly, you see the $170,000 difference here on the line "SSM" where you see your original claim was for 8 million 921, which is, in fact, what you -- what the Board approved for clearance last year, but after the audit it was actually 8 million 751, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason why the difference was so small, as you see from the note at the bottom, was because the amount you claimed was already at the maximum, so there is only about -- there was a big difference in TRC, but only about 4 million of that difference was reflected in a change in SSM; is that right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  The practice of clearing unaudited balance for these accounts, it's been in existence for quite a long time, since EB-2006-0057, if my memory serves me correct; is that right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It has been in existence for some time. I don't have the docket number of the case that it was approved in.


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a number of years.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  If I can assist, I believe it's EB-2006-0057.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, I'm sorry, I thought that's what I said.


And in every year since then it's been done exactly the same way, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  We dispose of unaudited results and we record the true-up in the results of the following year, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in every one of those years it's been accepted by the Board, usually with the consent of the parties, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It's been accepted by the Board, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, is it true that in almost every case it's been accepted with the consent of the parties?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I can't recall years where there has been disagreement on that practice.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  In any of those years did any party at any time challenge whether the audit was carried out correctly, to the best of your knowledge?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The challenge in the audit is beyond sort of my area of responsibility, in terms of disposing of the deferral accounts.  The audit process is a separate process from the deferral account disposition process.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, let me ask you this:  Can you then undertake to advise whether at any time any party challenged whether the audit was carried out correctly for any of those years?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I can, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  That's J1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO ADVISE WHETHER AT ANY TIME ANY PARTY CHALLENGED WHETHER THE AUDIT WAS CARRIED OUT CORRECTLY FOR ANY OF THE RELEVANT YEARS

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, I wonder if you could turn back to page -- now I have lost track -- page 3 of our materials.  And so this -- the time of the interrogatories in this proceeding, the first batch of interrogatories, you actually hadn't completed the audit for 2010, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And in this interrogatory you will see here that Union says you will actually file it on June 30th.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Right?  Now, it wasn't actually filed on June 30th, right?  If you turn to page 5...


MS. ELLIOTT:  The date on that letter is July 29th.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's when the audit results were filed, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's my understanding, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, will you confirm or will you accept, subject to check, that normally the audit is filed with a joint report of the members of the valuation and audit committee attesting to the results; is that right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I can't confirm that, but I can take it subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And this year that wasn't the case, right?  In fact, this letter, which we have provided here from a person in your regulatory department, says, and I am quoting:

"Members of the EAC expressed concerns related to the audit process."


Do you see that?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I do.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is a dispute about the audit for 2010, is there not?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Based on this letter, there are concerns about the audit process, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so you were aware that questions about the audit would be asked at this proceeding, right? You had been advised of that?


MR. SMITH:  No.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, Mr. Smith, you were advised several weeks ago about this.


MR. SMITH:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, with respect, this letter was filed on July 29th.  There was no response from you or intervenors.  Indeed, the first indication that -- nor were you at the technical conference, but the first indication that you intended to ask questions with respect to DSM was this past Friday.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry?


MR. SMITH:  Well, you sent an e-mail saying you intended to cross-examine on DSM-related issues, but I am not aware of a letter being filed -- if your question is, is there a letter that was filed in response to the July 29th letter, I am not aware of such a letter.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask that question, did I?


Let me ask this differently.  It's correct, is it not, that the intervenor members of your EAC this year expressed concerns over both the selection of the auditor and the way the audit was carried out; is that true?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I am only aware that there are concerns about the audit process.  I am not aware of what the details of those concerns are.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So this audit was filed on July 29th.  I don't see an EB number there.  What proceeding is that filed in?


MR. SMITH:  If I may, the audit is not typically filed in any Board-designated proceeding.  It's filed as part of Union's reporting requirements.  Obviously, to the extent that there are questions in relation to the audit, as part of the true-up process, then it may be that the audit is filed in that subsequent proceeding.  That may or may not happen.  But there isn't a requirement to file it as part of a proceeding that I am aware of.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, then I'd ask -- and again, I am asking the witnesses, though I'd assume Mr. Smith will answer, what's the procedure for a review by the Board of the audited -- the problems identified by the intervenors?  What's the procedure for that?


MR. SMITH:  Well, consistent with EB-2006-0057, certainly it will be our position that, to the extent intervenors have a concern with respect to the audit, they may ask those as part of the true-up process, which would take place in the process of clearing the LRAM and SSM accounts in this proceeding or a comparable proceeding next year.  In other words, there will be a true-up next year, just as there has been every year since EB-2006-0057.  The audit, to the extent there is an issue with respect to it, the audit will be filed, either in-chief or in response to interrogatories, and questions can be asked in respect of it.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Again, I am asking the witnesses, in your evidence in this proceeding, is there anywhere the audit from 2009, which is being trued up this year?  Is that filed in this proceeding?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The audit for 2009 isn't filed.  The results of the audit are reflected in the accounts.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And is that audit in fact filed in any proceeding before this Board?  The 2009 audit that you are trueing up that you are asking the Board to approve recovery on, is that filed in any proceeding?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I am not aware of it being filed in any proceeding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  I just -- I note that this letter from Ms. Redford is dated July 29th.  Why wasn't this audit filed in this proceeding?  You had time, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The process is to deal with the results, the unaudited results for 2010 in this proceeding and the true-up in next year's proceeding, to the extent that the audit would be part of next year's evidentiary record to support the true-up.  It could be requested at that point, but it wasn't deemed necessary for this proceeding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But isn't it better evidence than the evidence you have already filed?  This is audited evidence, right?  So isn't it better than what you had on the record?  Why didn't you file the better evidence if you had it?


MS. ELLIOTT:  We are really just -- consistent with prior years' processes, we deal with unaudited results in this proceeding and the audit in the following year's proceeding.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I have no further questions, Mr. Chairman.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.


Mr. Quinn?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Yes, sir, thank you.


And I would like some clarification right up front, and that might help the logistical issue that I see right now.  But will Mr. Feingold be part of the second panel?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, he will, Mr. Quinn.  I anticipated your concern, and he will be part of the second panel.


MR. QUINN:  Could you tell me who is on the second panel?


MR. SMITH:  It will be Ms. Cameron, Ms. Elliott, Mr. Isherwood, and Mr. Feingold.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  So if we have cross-overs of cost allocation issues into deferral account, that would be handled by Ms. Elliott then in the second panel also?


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  I was concerned about the very issue you have identified, which is Mr. Feingold's study addresses both the deferral accounts and cost allocation, so I wanted him to be available on the second panel, and Ms. Elliott, so that you would have an opportunity to ask all of your questions.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you for that clarification.  And I trust that I don't have to ask all of my questions at this point, because I guess maybe one of the logistical questions I have is:  Does Union have the hard copy or does it have copies of the compendium I provided last evening?


MR. SMITH:  We should do, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Mine are down at the printer.  They couldn't have them ready this morning before the proceeding, so I am going to try to ask a question at this point without the benefit of those undertakings in front of us.  But it may be helpful during the break that Union might have some heads up, so that it can potentially take a brief undertaking that may be available to us.  It stems from an interrogatory that we received last Tuesday, interrogatory response.


If you will pull up the interrogatories from last Tuesday, it's Exhibit B-365.


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, Mr. Quinn, I am just -- we will pull that up.  I am just going to ask you, if I may -- I have a copy of the package, and I wasn't sure whether or not you had a copy, and if you don't, I will give you mine.


MR. QUINN:  No, I have a copy of the package.  I just wanted to be respectful that the Panel does not, and other members in the room.


MR. SMITH:  We can provide it to the Panel.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  That would be helpful, and I appreciate your service in that capacity, Mr. Smith.


As Union is aware, we sponsored some evidence with CME and Kitchener for Mr. Rosenkranz, and in trying to understand the evolving nature of some of the cost allocation methodologies that we have seen in this proceeding, we wanted to get a sense of in-franchise space and storage space that was sold either long-term or short-term in the periods before the NGEIR decision.  And the result of our inquiry came back to us last week, that the data for years 2004, 2005 were not available.


With the help of some technology and a little bit of luck, I was able to get back into the NGEIR proceeding and was able to pull out a couple of interrogatory responses that I think may be helpful to Union to provide the completion of that chart, so that we may have it, ideally for some questions this afternoon.


But the interrogatories are K2.3 and 4.5.  And I believe, and maybe if the panel has that, the most appropriate person on the panel could answer if the panel would be able to now be able to fill in that chart, to assist us in looking at the storage that was sold, versus the numbers that are in that chart at this time?


MS. ELLIOTT:  We can look at those interrogatories and determine whether they provide information that would be useful in completing this chart, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I appreciate that.  I am kind of going out of order and asking for that because I wanted to have the maximum amount of time that you would have so that we still may have opportunity to ask today or potentially tomorrow, at which time it would be helpful to know that.


I am encouraged that you foresaw our concern about Mr. Feingold's appearance in the second panel, so I will start with some questions for Mr. Feingold, but I will defer some of them until the second panel, where it might be more appropriate in terms of the application of the responses.


Mr. Feingold, I was listening to your introduction and you were talking about some of the key considerations that you had used as a -- I think you called it guiding considerations.  And one of the points you elaborated on was cost causation, and I guess I want to start at the outset in terms of understanding the scope of your review.


Do you consider part of the key considerations in reviewing methodology to be relevant Board decisions?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  Regulatory precedent is one of the factors that we considered, and I believe that I indicated as such in the report.


MR. QUINN:  And then to be clear, regulatory precedent with your broad experience can come from many jurisdictions, but with specific to this application, was your review to determine whether the conceptual underpinnings and methodologies were consistent with the Board directives in this area?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, that was one consideration.  And the NGEIR decision, which really created the need for this accounting separation process, was something that we looked at as part of our review, and then the subsequent proceedings that dealt with various issues around the allocation and deferral accounts.


MR. QUINN:  Which subsequent proceedings are you referring to?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I am talking about the proceedings that really are reflected in schedule 1 of the Black & Veatch report, which presents a regulatory chronology of OEB proceedings.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I won't take the Board's time in reviewing that, but my understanding -- well, what is -- on the basis of the cost allocation portion of your review, what is the relevant proceeding that you used to test Union's methodologies against?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I believe in general terms, Mr. Quinn, it's a combination of all of the proceedings that we reviewed that are reflected in schedule 1.


In particular, to better understand the cost allocation process, we focussed on Union's last proceeding similar to this one, EB-2010-0039, I believe.


But I mean, short of having to go through each and every one of these proceedings and filings, I can't answer with precision exactly which precedent related to which part of the cost allocation process.  Again, it was a backdrop that we used to understand the process and understand the Board's decisions around this process.


MR. QUINN:  And so that we don't have to go through them all, you said the most recent and relevant one was the EB-2010-0039; can you help me with where you found applicability of that decision into your review?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I didn't say it was the most relevant.  What I said, it was the one that reflected the cost allocation process that the review that we conducted was based upon.


If we are talking about regulatory precedent, for example, the one precedent that sticks out in my mind as a key consideration is, in the Board's NGEIR decision, the Board determined that it was reasonable for Union to utilize its 2007 cost allocation study for purposes of creating the accounting separation between storage assets at the end of 2006, just to provide an example of what I am referring to.


MR. QUINN:  Well, that is helpful, and I think you will take me down that path, then.


In terms of the application of this decision, was it within your scope with Union that you were asked to review the evidence of Mr. Rosenkranz?


MR. FEINGOLD:  No.  It wasn't envisioned that the evidence of Mr. Rosenkranz would be submitted at the time we submitted our proposal to Union to conduct the review.


MR. QUINN:  Well, then, I will move into a more broad category then.


You are familiar with -- well, maybe I should ask.  From your experience, are you familiar with the item that Union calls system integrity space?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I am familiar with it from the standpoint that it was part of, or one of the components of the reconciliation of storage space that we looked at as part of the study, but from a broader conceptual point of view I am not sure what the connection is there.


MR. QUINN:  Well, I believe -- and I am going to your schedule where you laid out the functionalization and allocation of costs.  The system integrity was a distinct item; is that correct?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Are you referring to schedule 3, Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  I believe it's schedule -- well, schedule 3 is the first place you see it, yes.


Sorry, I thought I was getting your recollection.  So you are familiar then with system integrity space as it pertains to the study demonstrated in schedule 3?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I am just trying to -- I am just trying to refresh my memory on where exactly you are pointing to in the study for the context.


MR. QUINN:  In schedule 3 it lays out the separation.  Under schedule 4 periodically you have made -- you have reviewed the allocation methodologies and separated out system integrity allocators.


So I am trying to understand, in your review of system integrity, how you were able to review the allocations.


MR. SMITH:  Maybe, Mr. Quinn, you can assist by identifying just where on schedule 3 and 4 there is a specific reference to system integrity.  Perhaps that would assist the witness.


MR. QUINN:  Well, there are many -- top of page 3 and 4 in schedule 2 you refer to land rights, and there is a consistent phrase that "are allocated to ex-franchise storage services based on space deliverability and system integrity allocators".  The next, under "general plant", is that same phrase, "space deliverability, commodity, and system integrity allocators".


MR. FEINGOLD:  I am sorry, Mr. Quinn, is there a pending question?


MR. QUINN:  My question is, your familiarity -- you have undertaken this study, and you have approved -- I shouldn't say "approved".  You have reviewed Union's methodology, you have made minor changes to their proposed methodology, you recommended minor changes in proposed methodology, and yet you have carved out the system integrity space consistently in your review, in terms of what -- how Union allocates and -- functionalizes and then allocates system integrity space?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, not carved out, in the sense that I included it to be able to show the entirety of the storage services that are reflected in the cost allocation.  So I talk about space deliverability, commodity, and system integrity.


MR. QUINN:  So I guess then, very specifically, your understanding of system integrity space, how is that asset used by Union Gas?


MR. FEINGOLD:  It's used in an integrated fashion as part of its overall storage operation.


MR. QUINN:  And from your work, in terms of that integrated storage, do you have a sense of what percentage of the costs of this space Union allocates to its non-utility business?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I don't at my fingertips, no.


MR. QUINN:  Would you think that it -- well, I am going to ask the question this way.  You referred to the fact that system integrity space is used by the integrated storage pool.  What does system integrity space do for the integrated storage pool?


MR. FEINGOLD:  It provides for the use of space and deliverability that are needed by customers -- to satisfy the requirements of customers.


MR. QUINN:  Would you agree with me that it helps underpin the firm services that Union provides?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I am not sure what you mean by "underpin", Mr. Quinn.


MR. QUINN:  Well, and you may not be aware, and the Union panel can confirm this, so maybe I should ask them first.  In the original 99017, where system integrity space was brought forth, my recollection is that it was called contingency space.  Is that accurate, Ms. Elliott?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I am sorry, you are outside of my area of expertise here.


MR. SMITH:  If it's of assistance, Mr. Quinn, certainly Mr. Isherwood will be able to answer questions in relation to system integrity space and its long history before the Board.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then it may be more appropriate for me to defer those questions, but they are cost allocation issues, and I guess that's part of the challenge of the panels.


Mr. Feingold, have you reviewed other utility storage companies that have system integrity space?


MR. FEINGOLD:  In the other companies -- other distribution companies that had storage service, I don't recall if they specifically identified system integrity space the way that Union has.  So I would have to go back and refresh my memory from those utilities.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I think again maybe it would be enhanced by hearing Mr. Isherwood's testimony, and then, Mr. Feingold, I can come back to you at that time.


More broadly then, I presume in your expansive experience you have looked at other utilities that perform transfers between internal departments or, potentially, affiliates?


MR. FEINGOLD:  When you say "transfers", I assume you mean, for example, a utility shared service organization that has a certain type of transfer pricing method set up?


MR. QUINN:  Yes.


MR. FEINGOLD:  I have reviewed other utilities methods in that regard, yes.  Not necessarily addressing storage, though.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, then just speaking more broadly then, not including storage, when there is an actual transfer that creates ratemaking implications to its customers, is it your experience -- well, let me speak of capital asset allocations first.


Have you had experience in reviewing allocations of capital between a utility and possibly an affiliate?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I have.  Primarily in the general plant area, for example.


MR. QUINN:  And in those plant allocations, what is the process for ensuring the appropriate transfer price?


MR. FEINGOLD:  It depends in large part on what the particular regulatory preferences are in that particular jurisdiction.  But I would say that a starting point, and a very important starting point, is to ensure that cost causation is reasonably reflected in the costs that are transferred from one entity to another, on equity and fairness grounds.


MR. QUINN:  So to the extent that you are determining if it is an appropriate, fair price, what numbers are used to -- let me speak specifically.


In asset allocations, is that generally based upon some form of either recent inventory or asset valuation?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I would say that there are two considerations that I have come across most often within the context of how a utility assigns shared costs or shared services to its utility affiliates.


One would be to look at the underlying costs of providing that service.


And in some jurisdictions they also look at the prevailing market prices for substitute services that could be provided to the utility by a third party.


I would say generally that's sort of the landscape for that type of review.


MR. QUINN:  So in that more recent example you gave, you are talking about an example where they use the either higher of cost or market or lower of cost or market?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Again, it depends on the particular regulatory jurisdiction.  My recollection is that there is some jurisdictions where cost is the primary driver.  And in other jurisdictions it may be, as you suggest, the higher of or the lower of, depending on which way the services are flowing between the entities.


MR. QUINN:  And when that evaluation is done, what is used as the quantity of assets to be valued?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I would say, generally speaking, there is a desire on the part of the utility to use a quantity that is consistent with the quantity that is used to allocate similarly situated costs among its regulated customer groups.


MR. QUINN:  Maybe you could say that -- if you would say that again on a more simple level.  Can you help me with what that means?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  For example, you could have a plant asset that is allocated to a utility's residential, commercial, industrial classes on a design-day basis, and that would dictate that those same costs that are allocated to another entity -- to an affiliate, for example -- should be allocated on that same basis to ensure that the cost causation that is reflected within the regulated utility is also captured in assigning costs to the other corporate entity.


MR. QUINN:  So the cost causation principle in that example would say based upon the services provided?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Based upon the services provided, but also recognizing the costs incurred by the utility whenever those services were first required to be satisfied by the utility; so in other words, what caused that plant investment to be incurred.


MR. QUINN:  So in this application, we are talking about storage assets.  How would you apply that thinking to the storage assets?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, to the extent that within the context of Union's 2007 cost allocation study, certain allocation factors were utilized to allocate storage plant among rate classes or among rate schedules, those allocators would also be used to allocate cost to the unregulated operation.


MR. QUINN:  And you are saying that this holds true independent of the physical count or quantification of those assets at the time of separation?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, if by "physical quantification" you are talking about the booked cost, the allocation factor would be applied to the booked cost, or even before that, a direct assignment of the booked cost would be examined to see if there is a way to attribute to a particular business entity a particular asset, without having to rely upon a more generalized allocation factor.


MR. QUINN:  So in this case, for December 31st, 2006, that is the period under which these assets were separated?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's my understanding.


MR. QUINN:  So a physical count at December 31st, 2006, what information does that inform for you in this type of transfer pricing?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, by "physical count," again, I am saying that that is synonymous with the original cost of that facility at the time that it was transferred.  That original cost, though, does not require that an allocation factor be applied to it that is associated with that same time frame.


MR. QUINN:  So at that point, you would believe that the forecast would provide a more fair count of those assets for the purposes of separation?


MR. FEINGOLD:  In the case of storage capacity, which is a large component of the costs that we are talking about, the design-day forecasts are a stable determinant for purposes of creating a cost allocation factor.  And in my view, and I believe in the Board's view, based on its acceptance of the 2007 cost allocation study as a reasonable basis for separation, that that was appropriate.


MR. QUINN:  So once the forecast is in place and approved by the Board, there should be no further shifts to that number?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I think based on the NGEIR decision, as I read it, this was envisioned as a one-time transfer of assets, by virtue of the Board choosing to use an accounting separation process.


MR. QUINN:  So it would not be appropriate, then, to shift different from what the NGEIR decision applied in this case?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Not if it was defined as a one-time separation.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Thank you.


Now, further -- and I am conscious of logistics and time here, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn, I have got just going on 11:00.  If you have a natural break, and if you have quite a bit more, we could take a break now.


MR. QUINN:  I do, sir.  I have some more, and I was going to move on to another topic, so if that's helpful?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, it is.  Why don't we take a break now for 15 minutes?  And we will resume at 11:15.


--- Recess taken at 10:58 a.m.


--- On resuming at 11:18 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Whenever you are ready, Mr. Quinn.


MR. QUINN:  Thank you, sir.


I provided additional copies of the compendium that was filed last night, and I was going to ask Ms. Sebalj if this is the appropriate time to put an exhibit number on it.


MS. SEBALJ:  Yes, we can mark it as Exhibit K1.7, and I did add an additional copy on the dais for you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  COMPENDIUM OF CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FOR FRPO

Cross-Examination by Mr. Quinn:


MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  Thank you to Union and Board Staff for helping us out just to make sure if we made some progress, and maybe so that I understand what we may be prepared for, has Union reviewed K2.3 and K4.5 to determine their ability to complete the interrogatory response?


MR. SMITH:  With apologies, Mr. Quinn, no, we haven't had that opportunity.  We will try and do it over the lunch break.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I will have to defer some of the questions, but my understanding with the constitution of the next panel, I don't see it being an impediment at this time, thank you.


I indicated that I was going to shift my line of questions, and I wanted to move to an area that was also identified previously and in the Black & Veatch report, called resource optimization, and I was wondering, Mr. Feingold, if you could provide for us your understanding of resource optimization and, in this case, how it is used by Union Gas?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, as I understand resource optimization, it's an operational technique that allows Union to maximize the use of its storage capacity for purposes of satisfying customer service requirements.


MR. QUINN:  And maybe I was expecting a little bit more, but can you give us just at a simple level what that means, in terms of how space is created?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, if I look at schedule 16 of the Black & Veatch report, page 2 of 2, I indicate that resource optimization is based on a combination of resource gas loans and space encroachment.


MR. QUINN:  And if you could elaborate, what does that mean?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I am not a storage engineer, but it is my understanding that that enables the utility to, as I said earlier, maximize the amount of capacity that it has available to satisfy customer needs.


MR. QUINN:  And what customer needs are you saying the resource optimization space is being used for?


MR. FEINGOLD:  To satisfy the service requirements of customers that require storage space on Union's system.


MR. QUINN:  In-franchise or ex-franchise?


MR. FEINGOLD:  In this case, that is in schedule 16, it is used for purposes of satisfying long-term storage of the unregulated operations.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Now, you used two terms, "gas loans" and "space encroachment".  I would like to walk through each one.  How do gas loans create the space that provides these services?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Mr. Quinn, I am not sure I am the best person to address the level of space associated with that particular function.


MR. QUINN:  I actually wasn't asking about the level.  I was asking about what -- if you could provide a description of how gas loans create resource optimization space.


MR. FEINGOLD:  And I don't think I am the best person, from an operational and from a transactional point of view, to talk about that topic.


MR. SMITH:  This is, Mr. Quinn, an area that you -- this is Mr. Isherwood's area of responsibility.  Specifically, he is the person who is responsible for the contracts that create the optimization space, so he will be available to you.


MR. QUINN:  And I will have some questions for Mr. Isherwood.  I was just, I guess, trying to understand what Mr. Feingold understood about how resource optimization space is created and from where it's created so that he could assess the validity of Union Gas's methodology.


MR. FEINGOLD:  And I didn't evaluate it within the context of schedule 16, as per the scope of the study.  All I was trying to do was to reconcile storage utilization and available capacity as one of the tasks of the study, and this was one component of the storage space that I was informed of.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I am going to ask, with the risk of being deferred to Mr. Isherwood, but is your answer the same for space encroachment?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, it is.  Again, those were treated in the aggregate as a line item on schedule 16, and I think Mr. Isherwood is the best person to talk about that from a transactional point of view.


MR. QUINN:  But in fairness, sir, you reviewed something called resource optimization, and I guess I am not looking for the detail of all the transactions that are included in it, but I am trying to understand, how was it created?  What asset is used to create that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  My understanding, it's not any one particular asset.  The operations of Union's storage facilities are treated on an integrated basis.  And as I understand it, you cannot point to a particular storage field or a particular asset to be able to attribute that to a particular transaction or to a particular customer.


MR. QUINN:  So it is a function of the integrated storage space?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's my understanding, from a high-level perspective.


MR. QUINN:  And that was your understanding that you used to assess the methodologies?


MR. FEINGOLD:  No, this was not an assessment of the methodology.  This was simply an ability to reconcile the utilization of storage and the available capacity, which was one of the tasks in this scope of work for the study.


MR. QUINN:  So in that reconciliation you were determining what space had been used?


MR. FEINGOLD:  What space had been used relative to what space was available for, in this particular schedule 16, long-term storage.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, again, I may have to defer some of the more specific questions, and Mr. Isherwood has been helpful in the past, so I thank you for those answers.


I am going to start again with you, Mr. Feingold, and then maybe ask some of the staff that are joining you at this point, but this 1.5 PJs of space has been something of a mystery for us, and it sounds like we have a final answer.


What is your understanding of that 1.5 PJs of space, unavailable space, what is that space, and, in your understanding, where is it appropriately allocated?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I think there was a response to a data interrogatory that was recently filed by Union Gas, and it was reflected in a letter dated September 15th, 2011, that referred to Exhibit B3.59.


MR. QUINN:  Yes, I am very familiar with that.  That was to our interrogatory response.  And I think at that point we thought we had clarity.  But when you did the study, sir, was that 1.5 PJs considered to be part of the in-franchise space, for the purposes of your review?


MR. QUINN:  For purposes of my review, I didn't need to isolate that 1.5 PJs of storage space.  To the extent that it was already reflected in Union's 2007 cost allocation study, it is what it was in that study.  For purposes of the reconciliation process that I went through with regard to storage space, what I was trying to look at was the 100 PJs of storage capacity that the Board indicated would be attributed to in-franchise customers relative to the in-franchise customers' actual needs, and that's how I ended up deriving or identifying the 7.9 PJs of storage capacity that represented the difference between the 100 PJs and the amount of storage capacity actually utilized by Union's in-franchise customers.


MR. QUINN:  And in that original assessment, did the 1.5 PJs reside in the 7.9 PJs that were excess?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I believe the 7.9 PJs was over and above the amount that was used currently by Union's in-franchise customers for storage capacity.


And if I go one step further, it's my understanding that the 1.5 PJs was reflected in the in-franchise costs of Union's customers in the 2007 cost allocation study.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, I am busy trying to bring up an interrogatory response, because I didn't think that was going to be your answer.


And possibly I could ask -- I don't know if it's Mr. Tetreault or Ms. Elliott.  In your original application, did you not identify the 1.5 PJs as being included in the 7.9 of excess space?


MR. TETREAULT:  No, Mr. Quinn, I don't believe we did describe it that way in our original application and evidence.


However, we did inadvertently comment to that effect in reply evidence, and subsequent to that, both in the IR response to B-359 and in the letter that's marked Exhibit K1.3 tried to correct and clarify those statements.


MR. QUINN:  So I guess we have your final answer on that now.  It is in in-franchise?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  And there was no rate change to pull it out?


MR. TETREAULT:  No, there was not.


MR. QUINN:  Another area that we had asked some questions about and we are still trying to grapple with an understanding, it's actually probably best found in Interrogatory B1.3, if you could turn that up.


MS. ELLIOTT:  We have that.


MR. QUINN:  In line 8, Union provides its demand O&M.  In 2007 Board-approved, it was 5,969, and in 2010, it is 11,078.


Ms. Elliott, I think -- I know that we asked you some questions in the technical conference, and it is still -- our understanding is escaping us.


Can you help us with what is the source of the increase in that demand over O&M between 2007 Board-approved and actual?


MS. ELLIOTT:  So there will be two primary sources.  The first is a change in accounting that happens once the Board's decision -- once we got the NGEIR decision to remove the storage from regulation.  Under utility accounting there is costs incurred that are overhead costs, that are capitalized as part of the regulatory accounting process.


When we moved to an unregulated business operation, those costs could no longer be capitalized as part of the unregulated operation or as part of the utility operation, so they were expensed.  And the --


MR. QUINN:  I am going to stop you there, if I may.  I apologize, but do you have a quantification of the amount that that change in accounting accounted for?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I don't have that with me at this point.


MR. QUINN:  Well, let's carry on, because you were going to introduce a second reason.


MS. ELLIOTT:  The second reason is just the increase in costs as a result of the incremental investment in storage.  So the incremental storage projects, the high-deliverability project and the pool development will have increased our operating costs.


So all additional storage costs related to the unregulated operation in the storage and operations area in the business development area would have been assigned to the unregulated storage operation.


MR. QUINN:  Now, again, I guess, the same question, you wouldn't have a number for the specific amount that was reflected --


MS. ELLIOTT:  No, and part of the problem is I wouldn't necessarily be able to break down the Board-approved by the existing departments, so...


MR. QUINN:  Well, I guess we are kind of maybe stuck a little bit, but maybe this would help.


These changes –- we'll deal with the first one, the change in utility accounting -- these are required by some US GAAP or IFRS?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  They are required as part of Canadian accounting policies today.


MR. QUINN:  Canadian accounting policies.  And those policies, it is reflected in your financial statements as such?


MS. ELLIOTT:  This change in accounting is reflected in our financial statements, yes.


MR. QUINN:  Now, from a regulation perspective, we are in an incentive regulation period.  How does Union justify increasing these costs in the incentive regulation period for the purposes of ratemaking?


MS. ELLIOTT:  These are not utility costs, so the costs for the utility and the accounting for utility costs haven't changed.


What has changed is the accounting for the non-utility costs.


MR. QUINN:  Would you agree with me that when they find their way into the deferral accounts, that they do have a utility impact?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I would agree with you that they have an impact on the amount in the deferral account to be disposed of to ratepayers, but we are in an area here where we are an unregulated operation with deferral accounts.  And we are following accounting, but not accounting for regulated utilities in the unregulated operation.


MR. QUINN:  But you would agree that those costs do get visited upon ratepayers as a result of their inclusion in your deferral accounts?


MS. ELLIOTT:  They are costs that the shareholder incurs, and as a result are costs that are assigned to the deferral accounts, yes.


MR. QUINN:  You had made the distinction that doesn't make them utility costs, but in essence, do they not become a ratemaking cost?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I guess in my distinction I look at the utility operations as the utility income for utility services.


These are non-utility costs.  The fact that we still have deferral accounts brings us back to, somewhat, to the discussion we are having about whether or not they are utility costs.  They are costs applied to the deferral accounts, but not costs that I would consider to be utility costs.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  I wanted to move forward just in this area of O&M.


You did provide us a breakdown in Undertaking JTC1.5 in the attachment.


MS. ELLIOTT:  I have that.


MR. QUINN:  So that 1,108 number that is unregulated O&M, that is consistent with the number we were just speaking of for demand O&M?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That is correct.


MR. QUINN:  So what you understand you've categorized is a separation from respective departments about the amount of costs that you have allocated on unregulated O&M.


Would you be able to provide us with the amount of capital that was undertaken on the unregulated side versus the total for the company -- sorry, total for the storage operations?  You have distribution operations and engineering construction storage operations; can you give us the actual amount of capital that was invested in 2010 that the engineering construction storage transmission operations created?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I can tell you the capital expenditures for 2010 were filed in the evidence.  So at Exhibit A, tab 2, Appendix A we file our financial package for the 2010 year.  And schedule 17 will show that we spent $219 million of capital, of which 11-, almost 12 million was storage in the utility operations.


MR. QUINN:  In the utility operations.  And then how much for the non-utility operations?


MS. VIENNEAU:  The non-utility capital spent in 2010 is also in the pre-filed evidence at Exhibit A, tab 2, Appendix B, schedule 4.


MR. QUINN:  And if you have that number, would you provide it, please?


MS. VIENNEAU:  The unregulated cap ex for 2010 was 9.3 million.


MR. QUINN:  So if I am reading these numbers in context, the capital spent on utility storage was 12 million and non-utility 9.3 million?


MS. VIENNEAU:  Correct.


MR. QUINN:  And that is your entire 2010 investment in non-utility -- capital, sorry.


MS. VIENNEAU:  Storage non-utility, yes.


MR. QUINN:  So we have numbers that are at least in order of magnitude almost the same, and when I read this O&M by responsibility area, I see approximately -- well, more than 90 percent being borne by the utility as a result of the allocation methodology.  Can you help us with how that ratio seems reasonable?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, when you're -- you have indicated that the capital investment is almost the same between the unregulated storage and the utility, and the unregulated storage investment was 9.3 million and the utility investment was 219 million.


MR. QUINN:  Maybe I misunderstood the context.  I understood this to be storage operations.  In the answer to that question we have storage operations, total O&M of 127-50.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, no, that's total company O&M.  In that total O&M column the 127-50, that's the total of distribution operations, engineering, construction, storage, and transmission.  The subtitle line probably shouldn't be there, but the total $127 million worth of O&M is all of our operations, of which 3.6 million has been assigned to the unregulated storage operations.


MR. QUINN:  Okay.  Well, that is, I guess, potentially an opportunity for correction moving forward, as I didn't understand that context.


Okay.  The last question I have goes to deliverability.  Again, Mr. Feingold, are you familiar with storage deliverability in a way that can help us with a simple explanation of that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Storage deliverability, in my mind at a high level, is associated with the -- satisfying the daily requirements of customers for taking gas out of storage, as opposed to the overall capacity that's needed over the course of a longer-term period, for example.


MR. QUINN:  And that gas out of storage can be made up of both utility and non-utility obligations?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  And in your understanding, is -- are non-utility obligations for storage, are they dependent on delivered gas to Dawn storage?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Did you say are they dependent on the amount of gas delivered into storage?


MR. QUINN:  Is Union's obligation for deliverability, is it dependent upon daily delivery requirements from non-utility customers?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I think that's one element of the deliverability requirements, yes.


MR. QUINN:  In total, or -- I am speaking specifically of non-utility customers.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, it's my understanding that non-utility customers have deliverability requirements, and that was the basis upon which I answered "yes".


MR. QUINN:  Yes, and the deliverability requirements are what we are speaking of, but are those -- the level of deliverability requirements, does it vary based upon committed non-utility customers delivering a certain quantity to Union on a daily basis?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Mr. Quinn, I am not in the best position to address the operational particulars of what enables Union to satisfy those requirements.  I think Mr. Isherwood would be the better witness for that.


MR. QUINN:  And then, sir, I will -- with respect, I will defer to Mr. Isherwood this afternoon and then come back to you with more specific questions.


Those are my questions, thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.


Mr. Thompson, are you up next?


MR. THOMPSON:  Perhaps, Mr. Chairman, we could begin by marking the CME motion record as, in effect, CME's compendium of documents.  I indicated in an e-mail last week that I would be referring to the documents under tabs 1 to 15 in my examination of the witness panels.  I didn't get any objection to that, so I assume we can mark it.


MR. SMITH:  This is my fault, but on reflecting upon this issue this morning I have no objection whatsoever to the documents reflected in the motion record, being the documents behind tabs 1 to 15, being provided.


However, pursuant to the minutes of settlement, the motion record itself was withdrawn, as was Union's motion, and, in my submission, the notice of motion should not be marked, because we disagree with it entirely, and that's obviously why we filed materials, including our own motion.


So I realize this may be inconvenient for the Panel right now, and we can deal with it at a break.  I don't want to interrupt Mr. Thompson.  But I do think at an appropriate time the notices of motion should be withdrawn from the record.


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, I am content to do that, so perhaps if I could put it this way, Mr. Chairman, could we mark the book on the assumption that everybody will just remove the notice of motion from tab A?


MR. SMITH:  That's fine, from my perspective.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.


MS. SEBALJ:  I believe we are at K1.8.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.8:  COMPENDIUM OF CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS FOR CME (tab 1 removed)
Cross-Examination by Mr. Thompson:

MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


Let me begin, if I might, with just a few questions about Union's reply evidence.  This hasn't been marked.  Maybe it should be marked, Mr. Smith.  Or maybe it -- does it have an exhibit?


MR. SMITH:  No, and I agree with you.  It ought to be given a separate exhibit number.


MS. SEBALJ:  So that's K1.9.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.

EXHIBIT NO. K1.9:  UNION'S REPLY EVIDENCE

MR. THOMPSON:  Now, can someone on the panel help me with who prepared this evidence?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think it's a collection of different people, all compiled by the regulatory group.


MR. THOMPSON:  I see.  Well, who on the panel is taking responsibility for this evidence?  Don't all hold your hands up at once.


MR. TETREAULT:  Mr. Thompson, I think depending on your area of focus, it may be members of this panel or members of the panel that would come on later.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Did you have any input into the preparation of this evidence, Mr. Feingold?


MR. FEINGOLD:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


Now, this evidence criticizes, in part, the evidence that has been filed by Mr. Rosenkranz; is that a fair characterization?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I think that's fair.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And what I would like to start with, if I might, is pages 3 and 4 of this evidence, and if you would also just have beside you Exhibit K1.3.


This is the September 15th letter advising us of some errors in this reply evidence, amongst other things; is that right?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And at pages 3 and 4 of the reply evidence, Mr. Rosenkranz's report is being criticized because it had said 1.5 PJ of space deemed unavailable had been allocated completely to utility, right?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And you go on at length here at pages 3 and 4, saying Rosenkranz got it all wrong; this 1.5 of space deemed available is borne by Union's unregulated storage operations; that's what the evidence says?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Then in Exhibit K1.3, you say in the last paragraph on the first page:

"At pages 3 and 4 of its reply evidence, Union advised that the annual cost associated with the 1.5 PJ of space deemed unavailable is borne by Union's unregulated storage operations."


This is incorrect, right?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  So can you just explain to me how that rather fundamental error occurred, when in the first instance, you are telling us that Mr. Rosenkranz got it wrong, and now you are telling us it turns out he really had it right?


MR. TETREAULT:  I will try to explain it this way, Mr. Thompson.


When we were drafting our reply evidence, we were of the mind, as we noted earlier, that the 1.5 PJs of space deemed unavailable was effectively part of the 7.9 PJs of excess utility storage space.


And in reviewing reply evidence in the context of preparing our IR responses, we realized that we had made an error in this regard.


So the intent of our IR response to B-3.59, as well as the K1.3 letter, was to correct our reply evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence is, in effect -- with respect to this 1.5 PJ, he is, in effect, saying:  That space is deemed unavailable.  It's supporting integrated operations.  All of it should not be allocated to utility.


That's the thrust of his evidence; would you agree?


MR. TETREAULT:  I would agree with that.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so what is the answer to that?  Are you now agreeing that he has got it right there, as well?


MR. TETREAULT:  No, I wouldn't say that.  I think we still view that the allocation of the 1.5 PJs of space deemed unavailable is correct.


So in our Board-approved 2007 cost study, we would always look to allocate all of the space associated with our official working capacity, which would have included that 1.5 at the time.  And under that methodology, the space deemed unavailable would have been allocated and was allocated to in-franchise ratepayers.


MR. THOMPSON:  But conceptually, why is that right?  If it is there supporting integrated operations, why shouldn't part of it, the costs of part of it, be borne, at least be borne by non-utility?


MR. TETREAULT:  It really has to do with the approved methodology that is in place, or was in place at the time of the 2007 cost study.


So just to describe it in a little bit of detail, what we do is we start with our total official working capacity for storage, which would have included the 1.5 PJs, and then what we do is we deduct contracted demand, forecasted contract demands for the rate classes that specifically contract for storage.  So that's ex-franchise storage, as well as the T1 and T3 rate classes.


And effectively, the last step in that methodology is to allocate the remaining space to in-franchise ratepayers.


MR. THOMPSON:  But you are referring to a cost study that was done even before the NGEIR decision was rendered; correct?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes.  I am referring to the '07 cost study, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And perhaps the easiest way to ask this question is to ask you to turn up Mr. Rosenkranz's answers to interrogatories from Board Staff.


This is a derivative of the evidence that Mr. Rosenkranz filed, so I suppose if we are going to refer to this, should we mark them both now?  Would that make sense?


MS. SEBALJ:  Sorry, by "both" you mean the answers to the IRs, as well as --


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, yes, his evidence and then the answers to the IRs.


MS. SEBALJ:  So the intervenor evidence or the evidence of Mr. Rosenkranz will be K1.10, and the responses to IRs will be K1.11 -- oh, sorry, I jumped the gun.


MR. SMITH:  I don't want to be particular about this, but in the normal course, you would need a witness to actually adopt the evidence, including the interrogatories thereon.


So I don't think that they can be marked as an exhibit on Union's panel.  More appropriately, they would have to be adopted by Mr. Rosenkranz when he gives testimony.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I certainly agree with that, but what do you suggest, Mr. Smith?  So I can refer to these --


MR. SMITH:  I agree with Mr. Warren.  They should just be marked for identification, and they can be put to the witnesses.


MS. SEBALJ:  All right.  We will call them I1.1 and I1.2 respectively, being the evidence 1.1, and the IRs 1.2.

EXHIBIT NO. I1.1:  EVIDENCE OF MR. ROSENKRANZ.

EXHIBIT NO. I1.2:  RESPONSES TO BOARD STAFF INTERROGATORIES.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.


So with that, panel, if you could turn to the response for Interrogatory No. 2, which would be in I1.2, this provides some information with respect to this study that you folks repeatedly refer to, the approved study.  And this was a study, as we understand it, done for the EB-2005-0520 proceeding; are we correct there?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And that was a proceeding with respect to what test year?


MR. TETREAULT:  That would be the '07 test year.


MR. THOMPSON:  2007 rates?  And that was a cost study based on forecasts; is that right?


MR. TETREAULT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And forecasts for the period ending December 31, 2006?


MR. TETREAULT:  No.  I think, Mr. Thompson, it would be for the test year, that fiscal year, so 2007.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But did it have 2006 numbers, as well?  Do you know?


MR. TETREAULT:  I can't say for sure, but I would imagine it did not.  It was with 2007 as our test year, the costs and demands, et cetera, would have been associated with that test year forecast.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So what is the year, then, that you say forms the, if you will, base for permanent separation, the derivation of permanent separation concepts as between utility and non-utility?  Is it December 31, 2006 or December 31, 2007?


MR. TETREAULT:  I would say that it is the cost allocation methodologies that underpin the 2007 Board-approved cost study based on a 2007 test year.


MS. ELLIOTT:  But the asset values used for the separation were the ending balances in 2006 or the opening balances in 2007, so the separation was effective for 2007.


MR. THOMPSON:  But that's what I am looking for, is the ending balances for 2006.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Those were the asset values that were separated.


MR. THOMPSON:  And in this cost study were they estimates or actuals, in the study that you call the approved study?  My understanding is they were estimates.


MR. TETREAULT:  My understanding is that they would have been estimated values.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


And so in this response to Board Staff, Mr. Rosenkranz says the EB-2005-0520 cost study was not prepared for the purpose of making a permanent separation of Union's utility and non-utility storage plant as of December 31, 2006.  Do you agree with that?


MR. TETREAULT:  I would agree, just given the timing, that the 2007 cost study was prepared for Union's 2007 cost-of-service filing for ratemaking purposes.  Subsequent to that, of course, Union's position in NGEIR and the Board's determination in NGEIR was that the '07 cost study was appropriate for the separation of costs between the regulated and unregulated businesses.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  I will come to that in a second.


But -- so the second sentence in Mr. Rosenkranz's response is that it was prepared -- this is referring to this cost study -- was prepared for an entirely different purpose; namely, for calculating utility rates at a time when all of Union's storage assets, including assets used for ex-franchise sales under the C1 rate schedule, were classified as utility assets.  I take it you agree with that statement?


MR. TETREAULT:  I can agree with that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


Now, in the -- this is going then to the NGEIR decision that I think you are referring to.  And perhaps the best way to draw this to your attention is go to Mr. Feingold's report.  It's Exhibit A, tab 4, and it's attached.  And if you go to page 1.1, there is a reference there to page 73 of the NGEIR decision.  Do you see that?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, I do.


MR. THOMPSON:  And I think that's the passage that you hang your hat on for saying the Board approved this study for all time for the purposes of doing this separation; is that right?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, for the one-time separation of existing regulated and unregulated costs.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And so are you suggesting the Board didn't contemplate doing a further cost study to accommodate the -- to evaluate separation as between utility and non-utility?  Is that the way you interpret the NGEIR decision?


MR. TETREAULT:  We -- Mr. Thompson, we interpret the NGEIR decision to -- as giving us approval to use the 2007 cost study to separate the unregulated and regulated businesses, the methodologies within that study, and of course, we are here seeking approval of the methodology that we used to perform that separation.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But we have never had a full-blown -- full-blown rate case to deal with this issue since NGEIR was decided.  We moved right into IRM, as I recall it, right?


MR. TETREAULT:  Yes, there hasn't been, in your terms, a full-blown rate case since NGEIR decision in November of '06.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, page 73 of the Board's decision doesn't appear in the chapter dealing with premiums and that kind of thing, but if you look at -- it's tab 1 of Exhibit I.1, I guess it is.  You have there the -- you have excerpts from the NGEIR decision, and the chapter that I want to draw your attention to is Chapter 7.  It starts at page 98.  It's a little bit in after the executive summary, I believe.


And if you go over to page 102, there is a sentence in the decision that I think is of some importance here.  In the first full paragraph the Board said:

"As and when Union requires more capacity for in-franchise needs, up to the 100 PJ cap, or adds storage capacity or enhances deliverability of its storage assets, the cost allocation will presumably change.  Once a revised cost allocation has been approved in a Union rates case, the basis on which margins on short-term storage transactions are shared will also change."


What do you make of that sentence, panel?


MR. TETREAULT:  As I read it, it's speaking specifically to the sharing mechanism we have with regard to the short-term storage deferral, obviously recognizing the, at the time, 79/21 utility/non-utility split.  So I take that passage under the context of how margin-sharing in the short-term deferral may be calculated or determined in the future.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So you are saying the ratio could change, but that methods may not necessarily change.


MR. TETREAULT:  I think that's a fair characterization.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, Mr. Feingold, do I take it from the fact that you didn't have anything to do with the reply evidence that you were not retained to criticize Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That was not part of the request for proposal, no.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, whether it was then or subsequently, have you been retained to criticize his evidence?


MR. FEINGOLD:  No, not specifically for that reason.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, is that "no", period?  What do you mean, "not specifically for that reason"?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, there is post-filing support that was envisioned in the proposal that we submitted to Union Gas, but that was envisioned to be able to be before the Board now to present the report and the evidence that I supported.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  So you're -- so I am taking your evidence to mean that the parameters of your work is what's in your report and that's it?  You are not here to criticize Mr. Rosenkranz.  That's being done by the Union people; is that correct?


MR. FEINGOLD:  That's correct.  Now, by the same token, I did review Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence as just part of preparing for appearing before the Board, but I was not specifically asked to comment on it as it pertains to Union's reply evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So you just did this on your own to be prepared for the case?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, if by saying you did it on your own -- I don't want that to leave the record to suggest that it wasn't a reasonable task to undertake to prepare for this proceeding.  But it wasn't formally requested in the RFP, as I recall.


MR. THOMPSON:  Nor afterwards, is what I hear you saying.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Union did not contact me to request that I formally review Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence, and I did not participate in the preparation of Union's reply evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you know Mr. Rosenkranz?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I met him during the technical conference.


MR. THOMPSON:  Do you have any reason to question his expertise?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I haven't evaluated it; I can't comment.


MR. THOMPSON:  So you have no reason to question it?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I have no basis to make any kind of assessment of his evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you.


Now, in terms of your mandate, sir, there was some information provided at the technical conference about the scope of your work, and in particular, dealing with margin calculations.  And I know this is on the next panel, but I thought it might be helpful just to touch on this here.


I don't know if you have available to you a copy of the technical conference transcript, and I can paraphrase, if I might.


MR. SMITH:  If we have a copy, why don't we provide it to the witness, if you are intending to put it to him?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I have it now, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thanks.  And at page 20 -- I don't think everybody needs to turn this up, but I will just give you the references -- at page 20, line 20, over to page 21, line 8, we had referred to an interrogatory that we asked B2.6, sub (b), and we had interpreted from that that Black & Veatch was not asked to review whether Union's calculations of margins was appropriate.


And over on page 21, Mr. Smith answered that you were -- I think the answer is that given the timing of the retainer, they were not in a position to define that, but we will let Mr. Feingold answer that.


And then later on transcript page 55, when you did appear in the technical conference, at lines 10 to 21, and there are some subsequent discussions with Mr. Quinn, but I took it from that information that your retainer did not encompass checking Union's calculations of the margins?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, that's not entirely correct.  I think it would be correct if we indicated that we were not retained to review the calculations of Union's 2010 margins.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, what are you telling us?  You reviewed their calculations of 2008 and 2009?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Within the context of the study that Black & Veatch performed, we reviewed the storage deferral calculations for the year 2009.  That was the most recent storage deferral information we had from EB-2010-0039.


MR. THOMPSON:  So are you changing the information you provided at the technical conference, or not?


MR. FEINGOLD:  No, I am supporting the answer I gave at the technical conference, because the answer I gave at the technical conference was solely confined to the issue of whether Black & Veatch addressed the 2010 margin deferrals.


It had nothing to do with the 2009 margin deferrals.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, Mr. Quinn went on at page 55 through to -- I think it's 58, 59, having some discussion about hurdle rates.


Do you still stand by the information you provided in response to his questions?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Mr. Quinn's question, as I understand the reference, Mr. Thompson, is with regard to a post-tax hurdle rate, and as I think I described in an interrogatory response, the review that Black & Veatch undertook was not a review or examination of the level of any one particular cost element.


We were focussed on the assessment of the cost allocation, and the underlying methodology that gave rise to the resulting costs that were attributed to either the regulated or unregulated storage operations.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So what I am taking from that --and please correct me if I am wrong -- is that to the extent there may be incorrect cost deductions that Union made in these margin calculations, you didn't evaluate whether they were correct or incorrect?


MR. FEINGOLD:  You mean incorrect from a -- from a mathematical point of view?


MR. THOMPSON:  No, incorrect from a -- from a methodology point of view.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Not in the case of that post-tax hurdle rate.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  As applied to incremental storage, investments and purchased assets?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes.  The extent of the study that we conducted was to indicate how the rate of return within the context of the margin deferrals was calculated.


We were not required to make a value judgment on the appropriateness of the level of that cost.  We were only trying to identify the methodology that gave rise to that cost, and to identify it and to present it within the context of the other margin deferral calculations.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will pick this up in the next panel.  It really is more there, but I wanted to clarify the scope of your retainer.


Now, with respect to some cost allocation concepts in the NGEIR decision, you, I gather, in your review looked at NGEIR and these decisions to determine the conceptual underpinnings for what was going on?


MR. FEINGOLD:  During the course of my review, we did review the NGEIR decision.


And with regard to cost allocation, aside from the principles that were articulated by the Board to determine how storage assets should be separated, we didn't go into the 2007 cost allocation and make a review of that study itself.  That was a study that, presumably by virtue of being accepted by the Board, was viewed as reasonable as a going-forward starting point.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I am curious as to what weight you gave to the Board's acceptance of that study as expressed in the NGEIR decision.


Did you just say:  This has been decided; I don't need to look into it?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I took it as a starting point, and to the extent that my review encompassed the examination of certain cost allocation methods, I was more concerned with the consistency of the application of those methods to the separation of assets and to the allocation of expenses than I was the absolute appropriateness of each and every allocator in the 2007 cost allocation study.


MR. THOMPSON:  Coming back to the concept that the NGEIR decision reflects, I wondered if you'd go back to Exhibit I.1, tab 1, which are the excerpts from the NGEIR decision, at page 101.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Mr. Thompson, I don't have that in front of me.  I am sorry.


MR. THOMPSON:  Oh, I'm sorry, I thought the -- maybe Mr. Smith could provide you with a copy, or somebody could.


MR. SMITH:  I am just making sure that mine's clean, Mr. Thompson, that's all.  Oh, we have a clean copy.


MR. THOMPSON:  If you have the NGEIR decision, then we can do it that way, but...


I am looking at page 101 of the NGEIR decision, and it's -- excerpts from that decision are at tab 1.  Do you have that, sir?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I do, Mr. Thompson.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Thank you.  And then under the heading "short-term margins derived from utility assets", the reasons say this:

"The decision to require Union to notionally divide its existing storage into two pieces, a utility asset, maximum 100 PJs, and a non-utility asset, the balance of Union's capacity, is set out in Chapter 6."


And I think we on this side of the table read that conceptually to mean that the utility asset component of the total pie from time to time will be as presented by Union, up to a maximum of 100 PJ, and the balance from time to time will be non-utility.  Do you read it that way?


MR. FEINGOLD:  No, I don't.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so how do you read this?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I read it to mean that because there was some degree of uncertainty with regard to the level of capacity required to satisfy in-franchise customer storage needs, that there would need to be a recognition that a portion of the costs that were already allocated to the in-franchise customers for storage needed to be adjusted, and that is the adjustment that is embodied in the cost that's assigned for the difference between 100 PJs and the lower level of capacity that is required by Union's in-franchise customers, and I think within the context of the Black & Veatch study, that was 7.9 PJs of capacity that was associated with that unused level of service from the in-franchise customers.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I think what you are saying is the unused level gets classified as non-utility; is that right?  Is that what you are saying?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, it's utilized as short-term storage resources, and the costs associated with it are credited to the in-franchise customers through the short-term deferral process.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  But in terms of classifying the assets, if it's in short-term it's non-utility, right?  Is that right?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I would agree with that conceptually.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so isn't that what this sentence says?  The -- what's not being utilized will be non-utility.  The balance of Union's capacity will be non-utility.  And that is the basis on which this 7.9 PJs has been treated as non-utility.


MR. FEINGOLD:  All I was trying to point out in my answer was that, in my view, there were two components here, one related to the short-term storage capacity that was embodied in the 100 PJ amount that the Board ascribed to in-franchise customers, and then everything above the 100 PJ amount was the amount that Union would utilize for its long-term asset transactions, storage transactions.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I take your point about long-term/short term, but they are both on the non-utility side of the ledger for cost allocation purposes.


MR. FEINGOLD:  You can characterize both in the same way, but in terms of how they get to the ledger, it's very different in how the Board recognized the treatment of the dollars that are associated with the ledger for short-term storage and the dollars that are associated with long-term storage.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Thanks.


Now, one of Mr. Rosenkranz's criticisms is that we are going to use 2006 year-end amounts as the point of departure for this exercise on a permanent basis.  We should be using the actual numbers.  Do you agree with that, sir?


MR. FEINGOLD:  No.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, that's a surprise.  I thought all cost allocators would support the use of the most recent information.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, there is a difference between what you would characterize as most recent information when you look at actual utilization of a system versus the design characteristics of a system, and they are very different.


As an example, if a certain plant asset is allocated to classes on the basis of design day demand or peak day demand, which is the case with regard to storage deliverability, if you use the actual peak day in any one particular 12-month period, that can vary significantly because of factors such as weather, economic impacts on customers' use of gas, versus a design-day characteristic, which is more closely aligned to the manner in which the plant asset was originally designed, installed, and the costs incurred, and it's a more stable allocator for purposes of assigning costs to groups of customers.


MR. THOMPSON:  But here we are talking about plant balances, sir, and why would anyone, when they have the choice between actual plant balances at a particular point in time and forecast plant balances made before that point in time, opt to stick to the forecasts when the actuals are better?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, Mr. Thompson, I think we are confused here.  We did use actual values, dollar values, in the ledger.  All the allocations are applied to actual values in the financial records.  So we used the allocation factors derived from the cost study, but we applied them to the actual values on the books at the time of the separation.


MR. FEINGOLD:  And that was my understanding in the conduct of the study as well.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, maybe I didn't state that question properly.  But why wouldn't one use the actual information to derive the allocation factors?  What's the problem with that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  The problem goes to the heart of what most appropriately captures the concept of cost causation.  And as I tried to describe in my earlier response to you, Mr. Thompson, if an asset is being designed to accommodate a certain maximum capacity or a certain maximum daily requirement on the part of customers, that is really, in my mind and my opinion, the driver on how costs are incurred associated with that facility or that asset, and it's most closely aligned to the maximum requirements that customers have for using that, as opposed to a peak-day demand during a 12-month period that could be lower or somewhat higher, based on factors that are not associated with the cost causation characteristics of that fixed asset in the ground.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will move on and we will hear from Mr. Rosenkranz on that.


I don't know what time you are planning to break for lunch, Mr. Chairman, but --


MR. QUESNELLE:  If this is good for you, Mr. Thompson, we can do it right now.


MR. THOMPSON:  That's fine.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  We will return at 1:30.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:29 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:35 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Thompson?


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you, sir.


Panel, I wanted to talk about optimization transactions.  You had a little bit of discussion about this with Mr. Quinn, and it's a concern of Mr. Rosenkranz, as you know.  Could someone on the panel just give me the Union definition of an optimization transaction?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think that's a question that should probably be put to Mr. Isherwood on the next panel.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, I will do that.  But this is a cost allocation issue, as I understand it.  It's not a deferral account balance issue.  Does no one on this panel have any idea what the concept means?


Let me put my understanding is it -- is it's the use of integrated assets, the cost of which have been fully allocated to stakeholders, but you use those integrated assets to maximize revenue optimization.  Is that an acceptable definition?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I guess if we are talking about the cost allocation implications of the optimization transactions, we are dealing with Union's storage assets, the costs of which have been allocated based on how those costs have been incurred.  The optimization of those assets is to get additional value out of the existing assets.  But there are no specific costs or fixed costs associated with optimization activities.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Well, that was one of the points I wanted to have you say -- tell me that optimization activities do not attract fixed costs.  You would agree with that proposition.


MS. ELLIOTT:  I would, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And would you agree with me that in the NGEIR decision the optimization topic was addressed by the Board under the short-term storage transactions topic?


MR. SMITH:  Is there a particular page reference, Mr. Thompson, you are looking at?


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, I was thinking of page 99 and following, which you will find at tab 1 of my brief.  And it's also referenced in Chapter 5, I guess.  That's referenced on page 102, as indicated in Chapter 5.  This is talking about the allocation of utility/non-utility rate base 79/21.


But my take on this section of the decision was to the effect that short-term transactions are supported by integrated assets and, therefore, the benefits of those transactions should be shared on the basis of responsibility for utility rate base.  Is that a fair characterization of that aspect of the Board's decision, panel?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I would say that short-term transactions in Union's case relate to the sale of excess utility space.  So the excess utility assets are sold short-term.  And the allocation of that is addressed in the NGEIR decision as the -- is based on the proportion of the assets.


MR. THOMPSON:  But I thought in this decision the Board said somewhere -- and I will just have to find it -- you really can't tell how much is supported by utility and how much is supported by non-utility, and that the appropriate way to deal with that is to just allocate the benefits on a 79/21 basis, which was rate base allocation factor.  Am I missing something here?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think the Board at page 101 of the NGEIR decision stated that it's not possible to determine whether a particular short-term transaction utilizes utility assets or non-utility assets, but in identifying the 100 PJs of space as a utility asset and determining that the -- and our utility requirement was the 92.1.  We have identified 7.9 PJs of utility space that is being sold at market prices and shared in the short-term deferral account with the ratepayers.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  And so that's -- those are asset optimization transactions, the short-term.


MS. ELLIOTT:  No, I wouldn't consider -- those are not what we refer to as asset optimization transactions.  When we talk about resource optimization in the long-term storage, which -- the number it noted in Mr. Feingold's evidence in 2009, that's different from the excess -- the sale of excess utility space.


MR. THOMPSON:  Why is it different?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The 14.8 PJs of long-term space was created through optimization activities, such as gas loans and space encroachment, so that's been -- that's what we refer to as optimization, and it's created from the existing assets.  The short-term transactions, the 7.9 PJs, is excess utility space that's sold short-term.


MR. THOMPSON:  Whether it's excess that's being optimized or created that's being optimized, I suggest they are both optimization transactions, both the short-term and what you are calling long-term.  Would you agree with that?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Not how we categorize -- how we define optimization.  We talk about the created space.  We don't refer to the excess utility as optimization.  It's space that exists, has fixed costs and assets associated with it.  It's excess to the utility requirements, so it's sold in the marketplace, and the revenues, the net revenues, are shared with the ratepayer, because the assets are considered to be utility assets that support that space.


MR. THOMPSON:  But non-utility gets a share of those transactions, based on rate base allocation.


MS. ELLIOTT:  The shareholder gets a share of those -- for the net revenues from those activities, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Right.  Okay.  Well, let's just turn up -- I am just trying to make my point here -- Exhibit B3.65.


MS. ELLIOTT:  I have that.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And so we have total working capacity -- this is the physical capacity, as I understand it, taking 2010 for an example, 164.6, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's physical capacity that Union owns.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then physical capacity allocated to in-franchise is 89.9, right?  In the second column?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I presume that's the in-franchise requirement.  When you say "allocated to", that can be confusing.  The costs that were allocated to in-franchise were done in the 2007 rate case, but in 2010 the in-franchise requirements -- their utilization of that space was 89.9.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then the short-term space sold using the requirements is 10.1?  That's the third column?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And so then we move over to long-term.  And if we don't have the, what I call the long-term space working capacity that's allocated, but is it not the difference between the 89.9 and the 164.6?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I would say it's the difference between 100 that is the in-franchise requirements, and the 164.6.  So the ex-franchise assets, if you will, are the 64.6 PJs.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So if we had ex-franchise assets as a separate column here, before long-term space sold, for 2010 we would have 64.6; is that right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And then you actually sold 102.3, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so that's 38 PJs, roughly, more, and is that optimization, the transactions?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Some of it will be purchased storage, as well.  So the 164.6 total working capacity excludes third-party purchases.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So do we have the -- somewhere in the record, the optimization transactions, which are being classified as long-term -- just stopping there, is that because the deals are longer than two years?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Is there somewhere in the record where we have the optimization transactions for '08, '09 and 2010?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I can tell you where '09 is, because that's the reconciliation that Mr. Feingold completed in his evidence.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.


MS. ELLIOTT:  I can't, at this point.  That's evidence that's probably better pointed to by Mr. Isherwood and Ms. Cameron.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But are the other two numbers in the record?  The 2010 number, is it in the record somewhere?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It may be, but I am not sure where it is.  That would be something that the next panel could answer.


MR. SMITH:  We will identify it, Mr. Thompson.  I believe it is and it is in an answer to an interrogatory, but I am just drawing a blank on the specific number.


So we will find it.


MR. QUINN:  B3.40?  Sorry, I am not calling bingo.  Excuse me, but –-


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  No, that sounds right, though.


MR. QUINN:  It's Interrogatory B3.40.


MR. THOMPSON:  What's the number?


MR. SMITH:  B3.40.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  And for the 2009 number, I think it's mentioned in Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence, so just bear with me.


MS. ELLIOTT:  It's also in Mr. Feingold's evidence, which is Exhibit A, tab 4 --


MR. THOMPSON:  What's the number?  That's all I want.


MS. ELLIOTT:  14.8 PJs.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  2008, then, Mr. Isherwood is going to have that?  Is that...


MS. ELLIOTT:  As Mr. Quinn points out, the answer to that is at Exhibit B3.40.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  So that's the 3.4?  I asked about 2010.  I thought --


MS. ELLIOTT:  2010 is also in that response.  It's 24 PJs.


MR. THOMPSON:  24?  Okay.  And so the assets that are supporting these transactions are integrated assets; you tell us that in Exhibit B3.60, right?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The specific assets that are being used can't be identified, but the pool of assets that Union owns has been split between utility and non-utility, based on the 100 PJs for utility, with everything else going non-utility.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, it is just like short-term.  The pool has been split.  Some of the assets are being used to support the short-term sales, and they are being divided between the two classes of asset supporters, utility and non-utility, based on rate base.


And I suggest to you the same thing should apply on the optimization that's taking place in transactions that's over two years as is taking place with transactions that's under two years.


What is wrong with the logic of that proposition?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The assets that are defined to be utility that are not required for utility service are sold short-term, and those -- that storage exists and is associated with owned assets of Union Gas.


The resource optimization is an activity that the shareholder undertakes to create space, and the shareholder bears the associated risk of that space creation and sells that created space long-term.


MR. THOMPSON:  Well, ratepayers are being asked to pay the costs of -- are they not, of --


MS. ELLIOTT:  There are no -- no, there are no underlying assets associated with the optimized space.


MR. THOMPSON:  So what is it, just hocus-pocus?  What is it that's being used to optimize -- to produce these additional and -- 24 PJs of sales in -- well, 14.8 in 2010, and 24 in 2011, it looks like, on this B3.40?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think the development and creation of optimized space is a question that should be put to the next panel.  They would be in a better position to answer those questions.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, conceptually, what Mr. Rosenkranz does, I suggest, is he looks at this and says:  This is unfair.  You are selling all of this stuff long-term, and yet the allocation of costs is based on the physical requirements only.  And he said to correct for that cross-subsidy problem, you should take the actual utilization into account in developing your allocation factors.


That's my paraphrase of his approach; are you comfortable with that description?


MR. TETREAULT:  No, I am not, Mr. Thompson.  I wouldn't agree that there is a cross-subsidy.


In-franchise ratepayers are paying for their storage requirements.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Well, maybe I shouldn't have used the cross-subsidy.  That's Mr. Rosenkranz's description of it, as I understand it.


But conceptually, I have a great difficulty understanding why the short-term optimization transactions and the long-term should be treated any differently.  You either should correct it, as Mr. Rosenkranz suggests, or you should have an optimization-type account that captures both short-term and long-term, and divide up the margins that way.


MS. ELLIOTT:  The short-term storage sales are tied to Union-owned assets.  We have the space available; it's been set aside as a utility requirement as a result of the NGEIR direction.


So the utility assets support 100 PJs of storage space.  The utility customers, at this point in time, need 92 PJs, so there is 8 PJs of physical space allocated to the utility that's in excess of the utility customer requirements.


MR. THOMPSON:  And it's moved into non-utility.


MS. ELLIOTT:  The non-utility operation sells that space short-term and shares the net revenue with the ratepayers.


MR. THOMPSON:  If it sold it long-term would ratepayers get any part of it?


MS. ELLIOTT:  If it was sold long-term at this point in time, no, it wouldn't be -- it wouldn't get captured in the deferral account, but the fact that it is excess utility space leads us to kind of create the sharing through the short-term deferral account.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Well, I will move on.


Now, can you just explain in 25 words or less how you will be treating operating and maintenance expense costs on a go-forward basis, in terms of allocating them between utility and non-utility storage?


MS. ELLIOTT:  So our plan on a go-forward basis is to follow the model that we have in front of us right now.  We will take the total O&M costs that Union Gas is forecasting for the year and determine the allocation to the non-utility operation based on each area, who supports storage, identifying what the level of storage support is, and then allocating those storage support -- storage costs, direct storage or storage support costs, between regulated and unregulated.


So what you will see on a go-forward basis when we present forecast information is the same thing you see on an actual basis.  You will see total costs, O&M, with a deduction at the bottom of the schedule for the non-utility allocation.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So insofar as O&M expenses are concerned, we will see the complete corporate picture, will we, as the starting point?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  And is that the same for the other items of costs as we go forward?  Will we see the complete corporate picture, or it's going to be something less?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The most significant difference that you will see going forward is the base assets, the existing assets at the time of separation.  So what we have here in this application is an allocation of existing assets at the end of '06 or the beginning of '07.  We have separated those assets away from the utility assets and recorded them in a sub-ledger as non-utility storage assets.


Because that's a one-time transaction, it's not necessary, and we won't see the total plant assets in the next go-around.  You will see utility assets only.  To the extent that there are capital expenditures that affect both utility and non-utility assets, so a storage replacement, you will see the total project, you will see the split between the utility and the non-utility, and we will go forward with the utility piece in the cost-of-service filing.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  So that's your proposal.  If the Board says we're to see everything, then we will see everything.


MS. ELLIOTT:  But the existing assets are deemed sold as a one-time transaction at the point of the NGEIR decision.  There is no changing that allocation on the existing assets.  That would be our proposal, yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  But even accepting that, if simply for verification purposes, the Board determines we should be looking at the complete picture on a go-forward basis, not only with respect to O&M but with respect to everything else, I assume that will be made available if the Board goes there.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Well, the information will be available, but in the filing the Board will see the utility assets and will see the total utility cost of storage, transmission, distribution, and general plant.


MR. THOMPSON:  I understand that.  But if they don't see non-utility -- for example, you might have a benchmark cost in the utility for a particular item.  That would be materially different from one in the non-utility.  That might be of interest to the Board in determining whether what you have put in the utility is reasonable.


MS. ELLIOTT:  But the existing -- the storage transaction at the point of the NGEIR decision isn't going to change.  So the utility assets going forward are going to be consistent with what's in this application and what was in last year's application.  The non-utility piece will grow as non-utility investments take place.  But for storage, it's most likely you will see storage assets for the utility relatively flat.  With the exception of replacement activity, there is not going to be a lot of storage activity on the utility side, if any.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  Now, there are a number of electricity utilities that have both utility and non-utility functions, and my recollection is they present the complete picture and then work backwards.


Is there some reason that Union does not wish to subscribe to that principle?  What's the concept that's driving secrecy about non-utility?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I am not sure I would categorize it as secrecy.  But the non-utility investments on a go-forward basis aren't relevant for utility ratemaking.


MR. THOMPSON:  All right.  Let me move on.


There is some criticism about your use of labour time estimates with respect to operating and maintenance expense costs.  Your answer to that in ten words or less is, 'We do it all the time'?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The basis for a number of allocations is an estimate of the level of effort required by the various departments.  It forms the basis for our utility/non-utility split, our affiliate split, and our capitalization.


MR. THOMPSON:  But is there any sort of time basis that we have to evaluate -- well, will we have any time basis, I guess, to evaluate these allocations on a go-forward basis?


MS. ELLIOTT:  We don't follow -- we don't do time-sheeting, so it's all based on forecast estimates and true-ups, where there is a significant change in the work during the year.


MR. THOMPSON:  Now, the last area I wanted to touch on is, it's again with Mr. -- with respect to Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence.  And that's I1.1, I believe.  It was marked for identification.  And these are the points that were made at page 9 of the material, use of transmission assets by Union's non-utility storage operation, and the first category of areas -- first area where he mentions this is transportation for storage pools connected to transmission and distribution lines.  And then the second is transmission assets used to provide non-utility storage services.


Now, conceptually, do you agree with the concerns that Mr. Rosenkranz raises; in other words, where this is taking place ratepayers should be compensated?


MR. SMITH:  Are we looking at number 1 or number 2, Mr. Thompson, I'm sorry?


MR. THOMPSON:  I was looking at both of them, but take number 1 first.  Where transportation for storage pools is connected to transmission and distribution lines, if that is taking place and ratepayers are not being -- recovering those, recovering their share of what those operators use, should there be some sort of credit?


Again, that's at the conceptual level, and then we will get down to what's happening.


MS. ELLIOTT:  With respect to point number one, where there are storage pools connected to transmission assets, I would agree that if the asset was connected to Dawn operations through a transmission asset, there should be a charge for it.


MR. THOMPSON:  And so what's happening?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Well, the two cases here are the Heritage pool and the Jacob pool.


The Jacob pool is under development, so there isn't an issue because it hasn't been presented here.


And the Heritage pool is connected through the St. Clair line, which is currently a non-utility asset.  So there is no need for a charge.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay. And so it's Mr. Isherwood who will give us the update on Dawn-Gateway?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  The St. Clair line is classified currently as a non-utility asset, in -- I guess in anticipation that that transaction will be completed?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  And then what about the second one, transmission assets used to provide non-utility storage services?


What's the -- what is your response to that concern?


He says there are two examples of storage services that overlap with transportation, and then he goes on to describe them.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, and I can't speak to it.  You may need to ask the next panel.  I think Ms. Cameron can speak to the examples.  I am not sure the examples are valid examples.


MR. THOMPSON:  Okay.  But conceptually, if this is happening and ratepayers are not being compensated, they should be; would you agree with that as a valid concept?


MS. ELLIOTT:  If there are utility assets being used to provide non-utility service, then there should be some recognition.  Either the revenue should go back to the utility, or the cost should be matched in the non-utility operation.


MR. THOMPSON:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Thompson.


I believe that takes care of everybody.  Redirect --


MS. SEBALJ:  No, I think that we just have a couple of questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Oh, I'm sorry.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Sebalj:


MS. SEBALJ:  No, that's okay.  We are way over here in the bleachers.


We just have a couple of questions, probably not surprisingly, about compression.


And if I can refer you to B1.27, which was Union's answer to a Board Staff interrogatory with respect to the reply evidence, do you have that?


MR. TETREAULT:  We have it.


MS. SEBALJ:  And that interrogatory references also John Rosenkranz's evidence, page 1 to 8, Union's reply evidence, page 10 to 11, and the Black & Veatch report, section 3, just by way of background, but I don't think you need to turn those up right away.


My first question is:  Just so that we can be clear for the record, all of this surrounds the use of a design-day forecast with respect to compression, and so can we just for the record -- can you please answer what exactly is design-day?


MR. TETREAULT:  I guess I would describe design-day as the peak demands, the peak-day demands that Union needs to meet to serve all firm customer requirements.


MS. SEBALJ:  And in Union's case, that's a minus-26-degree-Celsius day; is that correct?


MR. TETREAULT:  I believe that's the case.  I tend to think of it as a 44-degree day, but I think the math works, yes.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  So just so that I understand, when the pressure goes above 4,926 KPA, how do those costs get allocated?  To where do those costs get allocated?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. TETREAULT:  I'm sorry, could you repeat the question?  I want to make sure I understand it.


MS. SEBALJ:  When pressure goes above 4,926 KPA, how do the costs get allocated?  I think the answer is in the evidence, and I think --


MR. TETREAULT:  I guess the way I would describe it is that the -- to increase the pressure from 4,926, which I believe -- KPA, which I believe is 700 PSI, to, I think, what we refer to as a pressure of 895, we deem that to be transmission-related compression, whereas everything up to 700 pounds is considered to be storage-related compression.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And the transmission-related compression is the unregulated business; correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No, that's not correct.  Transmission is still regulated.


So the compression horsepower allocation is used to allocate the cost of compressors between storage and transmission first.  And then the storage component was allocated between unregulated and regulated.


MS. SEBALJ:  Okay.  And I think there is actually a table or a schedule in the Black & Veatch report that is helpful for trying to understand this.  I am trying to remember which one it is.  It certainly was an education for me.  I want to say 9, but that may not be correct.  No.


I think it goes directly to the point that you just made.


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think it's schedule 6, page 2.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. SEBALJ:  So I guess, Mr. Feingold or Ms. Elliott, can someone just take me through the left-hand piece of this, which is the piece that I think has to do with compression?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, the left-hand piece of schedule 6, page 2 of 2, takes those storage assets that are compression-related, that serve both a storage and transmission function, and as you go down the flowchart, shows the compression horsepower that is associated with the storage function and the transmission function, split by that pressure number that you referred to earlier, with the -- facilities associated with getting the pressure up to 700 PSI would be storage-related, and any of the assets that are associated with increasing the pressure from 700 PSI to 895 PSI are associated with the transmission.


And the horsepower numbers that appear on schedule 6, page 2 of 2, are aligned in that fashion, based on the pressure differences I talked about.


And so in going down one step further on this schedule, you can see that there is a 52.7 percent number in parentheses next to the storage horsepower number, and that reflects the percentage of storage- and transmission-related compression assets that are associated with the storage function.  And then that amount is further split or separated between the regulated and unregulated operations based on the allocation factors that appear below the last two boxes on the left part of that page.


MS. SEBALJ:  So the question for our purposes is whether or not Union reaches design day for -- let me ask it this way.  How many times a year does Union reach the design day?  And if you don't know, can you ballpark it for me?


MR. TETREAULT:  I am -- subject to check, I am not sure that we have ever reached a design day, the heating degree day 44.  But again, I am not an engineer, so I am a bit out of my realm, but that's my understanding.


MS. SEBALJ:  So then you're allocating zero days of compression above 4,926 KPA to the unregulated business; is that...?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No.


MR. TETREAULT:  No.


MS. ELLIOTT:  The allocator is design day.  That's how the facilities were built in order to provide the capacity to serve -- to meet design-day requirements.  And so the allocator deals with the design day and splits those requirements.  The non-utility will get a proportionate allocation of those existing assets based on how they were designed and what their requirement -- how their requirements were factored into that design day.


MS. SEBALJ:  So then you are using actual compression horsepower, as opposed to design day?


MR. TETREAULT:  No, we are -- we are using -- the horsepower allocation takes into account how compression horsepower would be used on design day to achieve the functionalization between storage and transmission.  So design day does factor into -- theoretical design day factors into that allocator.


MS. SEBALJ:  Is it not the case that transmission provides high deliverability service?


MR. TETREAULT:  I believe high deliverability service is a storage service, as opposed to a transmission service.


MS. ELLIOTT:  And the high deliverability assets are incremental.  So this allocation factor deals only with allocation of existing assets at the time of the separation.  So once the NGEIR decision was released and we created the one-time transaction, the factors here only apply to the assets existing at the time, because they were serving both regulated and unregulated or in-franchise or ex-franchise, so we split the existing assets.


At that point for high deliverability, all the assets that we constructed for high-deliverability storage are directly assigned to the unregulated storage operation.  There is no allocation.  So the assets are directly assigned, and any incremental O&M is directly assigned to the unregulated operation.  These factors only deal with assets existing at the point of separation.


MS. SEBALJ:  Thank you.  Those are all our questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Sebalj, thank you.


Mr. Smith, any redirect?

Re-Examination by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Yes, just a couple of questions.


Mr. Tetreault, you were asked a number of questions, I believe, about the 1.5 PJs of space deemed unavailable.  Do you recall that?


MR. TETREAULT:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And at the time of the 2007 cost study, what was Union's view about the availability of that space going forward?


MR. TETREAULT:  Our view at the time was that that space deemed unavailable was temporary.


MR. SMITH:  And what's the effect of that view?


MR. TETREAULT:  The effect is at '07 -- at the '07 time frame it was still part of our official storage working capacity and, therefore, per the Board-approved methodology, it was -- that space deemed unavailable was allocated to in-franchise ratepayers.


MR. SMITH:  Ms. Elliott, you were asked a number of questions by Mr. Thompson, and you used the term "excess to utility requirements".  And can you just explain what you mean by that, with reference to the 100 PJs referred to in the NGEIR decision?


MS. ELLIOTT:  So the NGEIR decision determined that Union should reserve 100 PJs of storage space for its utility operations to take into account future growth.  When we did the one-time split, we took the assets associated with the difference between our working capacity of 163 and the 100, and allocated the assets to the non-utility operation, leaving the assets for 100 PJs with the utility.  The utility doesn't need 100 PJs.  At the time the rates were set they only needed 92.1 PJs of space, so it created 7.9 PJs of storage capacity tied to those assets that was available for sale, and that was subsequently sold short-term and shared with the utility customers.


MR. SMITH:  And is that 7.9 PJs that you have referred to, is that a utility asset or non-utility asset?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It's a utility asset.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Ms. Elliott.  Those are my questions for the panel.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I think that completes for this panel that you have up there now, Mr. Smith, and we might as well do a little shuffling around if your next panel is ready.  The ones that are leaving us, thank you very much, and those that are staying, if you will just sit tight for a minute, and we will do an exchange, and then we will carry right on.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we did ask them to come up, so they are here, so I would ask Ms. Cameron and Mr. Isherwood to come forward, and I'd ask Ms. Vienneau to be excused, and Mr. Tetreault.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


So that we can avoid any problems with having to have people back, we might as well have Mr. Tetreault there in the event a cost allocation question happens to linger.  We will just have him here.  He is not going anywhere anyway.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.

UNION GAS – PANEL 2


Carol Cameron; Sworn.


Mark Isherwood; Sworn.

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Smith:


MR. SMITH:  Just briefly by way of examination in-chief, Mr. Isherwood, I understand that you are Union's general manager, business development, storage, and transmission; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And that is a position that you have held since 2002?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, it was --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, 2010.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have been a director of business development and storage/transmission before that and since 2005?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And you have held various positions with Union Gas, as I understand it, dating back to 1982.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. SMITH:  And I understand that you have a Bachelor's of Engineering degree, Chemical, from the University of Waterloo?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And you have a Bachelor's of Commerce degree from the University of Windsor?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  As well as an MBA from that institute.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And you are a member of the Professional Engineers of Ontario?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have testified before this Board on a number of occasions in the past.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I have.


MR. SMITH:  And were you involved or assisted in the preparation of Union's pre-filed evidence in this proceeding?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I was.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying today?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And similarly, were you involved or assisted in the preparation of interrogatories asked in respect of that evidence?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I was.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that evidence for the purposes of testifying here today?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Ms. Cameron, I understand that you hold the title of S&T specialist at Union Gas?


MS. CAMERON:  No, I do not.  My title is actually manager, capacity management and utilization.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Well, we'll make that correction to your CV.


And prior to that, you were an S&T specialist?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you have had positions with Union Gas, primarily in the S&T operations, since 1996?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have a bachelor of commerce degree from the University of Windsor?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  I understand that you have testified before this Board back in the Trafalgar facilities expansion case; is that correct?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Were you involved or did you assist in the preparation of Union's prefiled evidence in this matter?


MS. CAMERON:  I was.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that for the purposes of testifying here today?


MS. CAMERON:  I do.


MR. SMITH:  And similarly, were you involve or did you assist in the preparation of answers to interrogatories?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And do you adopt that for the purposes of testifying today?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


I have no examination-in-chief for the panel, and tender them for cross-examination.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


Mr. Warren?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Warren:


MR. WARREN:  It's me this time.  Thank you.


Members of the panel, I wonder -- the purpose of my cross-examination is narrow and quite focussed, and I want to understand the matters in issue with respect to storage and -- particularly storage allocation issues, and the calculation of the deferral accounts.


And for that purposes, I want to, if you wish, have you join issue with Mr. Rosenkranz and his criticism of you on certain positions.


And to assist us in that process, I would like you to have three documents in front of you.  One is Mr. Rosenkranz's prefiled evidence, which has been marked as Exhibit K1.1 for identification purposes.  The second document I would like you to have before you is the response of Mr. Rosenkranz to Board Staff Interrogatory No. 1.  His responses have, again, been marked for identification purposes as Exhibit K1.2, and I am interested only in the first of his two responses --


MR. FEINGOLD:  Weren't those identified as "I"?


MR. WARREN:  I'm sorry, you are absolutely right.  Thank you, Mr. Feingold.


The third document I would like to have in front of you is an answer to a supplementary interrogatory, I believe, from the Federation of Rental-housing Providers of Ontario, and it has been marked as Exhibit B3.54.


Just let me know if you have those documents in front of you.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Could you repeat the last exhibit reference?


MR. WARREN:  Exhibit B3.54.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Thank you.


MR. WARREN:  Do you have them, panel?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I think we do.


MR. WARREN:  If I could ask you to start at the first page of Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence, on the bottom of the page under the heading "Margin Calculations for Storage Services Deferral Accounts" Mr. Rosenkranz has three, if you wish, critiques of the margin calculations which Union has undertaken.


I am going to take them in a different order than they appear on the page, and I am going to begin with the third bullet item.


Mr. Rosenkranz says:

"Union errs by shifting 1.662 million of fixed cost of service from long-term storage to short-term storage for purpose of calculating margins."


And for your assistance, he elaborates on that point at pages 11 and 12 of the same document.


First of all, panel, if you could assist me in defining or determining, from your perspective, what is the issue that Mr. Rosenkranz –- first, what is the issue Mr. Rosenkranz is addressing, and secondly, what is your response to his critique on that point.


MS. ELLIOTT:  The issue he is addressing is where the costs of the excess utility space should be treated in the deferral account, so should they be long-term costs or short-term costs.


And the 1.6 is the differential between the cost of the 7.9 -- which is $2.3 million, or $2,261,000 -- and the costs that were showing in the Board-approved cost allocation study in 2007.


The difference is at that point in time, there was only 2 PJ of short -- of space being sold short-term, and subsequent to the NGEIR decision, that 2 PJs of space became the 7.9 excess utility space.


And it's our view that the costs of that space should be deducted before the revenue is shared.  Those costs were not allocated to the in-franchise customers in their rates, so they have to be covered first before the margin can be shared.


MR. WARREN:  And I then take you to the bullet point above that.  Mr. Rosenkranz's critique is:

"Union adds an arbitrary premium to the Board-approved return on equity for new storage investments.  This high target return reduced the margin shared with the ratepayers and is inappropriate for purposes of calculating storage service margins."


And he is -- a fuller description of that critique appears on page 13 of the same prefiled evidence, and it is in this context in which the term "hurdle rate" appears.  Perhaps we could begin, if you wish, by your telling me what is meant by "hurdle rate" and how it is used in this calculation.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  When Union Gas looks at acquiring capital from our parent company, we will take a project to be evaluated relative to other projects within the corporate family.  And corporately, we have a minimum threshold; it's not to say that any project above that will go forward, but we have a minimum threshold in terms of what projects will at least go to be reviewed.


And the minimum threshold is an economic measure.  We call it an internal rate of return, or IRR, and our minimum threshold rate is 8.5 percent.


So we use that in the calculation in terms of for us to acquire capital for incremental investments, we would have at least, at a minimum, had to meet that threshold.  And the 8.5 percent translates into an ROE of about 14.4 percent.


So throughout the evidence, you will see both numbers, and primarily you will see the 14.4 number.


So when we look at making incremental investments in storage after the NGEIR decision, it is really based on the premise that we were in a forbearance environment and that we would have exposure to the regulated market.


And to the extent that we needed an offset to the incremental risk that the shareholder was adopting in terms of investing in storage assets, we went to the minimum threshold as a number that would be used to calculate an incremental return, in addition to the Board-allowed return for regulated assets, again, these being non-regulated storage investments.


MR. WARREN:  Mr. Isherwood, if I could ask you to turn up -- just in connection with that last response -- Mr. Rosenkranz's answer to a Board Staff interrogatory, it's Exhibit I1.2.


And if you go to the second page of that response, I quote his response as follows:

"Even under forbearance, margin sharing on storage services is a rate-setting activity under the jurisdiction of the Board.  Union should therefore calculate costs for margin sharing purposes using the Board-approved rate of return."


What is Union's response to that critique?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think throughout the NGEIR hearing, the evidence and the testimony we led was -- and I think the Board agreed as well -- the storage development market is a more risky capital investment than a utility asset, and Mr. Baker testified, as well, that in the normal regulated rate of return framework, Union is not encouraged to develop any incremental storage, but that we certainly would consider that in a forbearance model.


So from a point of view of having a return that accurately reflects the risk, it's our view that we need to go to that minimum threshold IRR of 8.5 percent.


MR. WARREN:  Now, if I go a little further down in this response from which I have just quoted, to the last:

"Using the Board-approved return for the margin-sharing calculation during the brief freeze-out period required by the NGEIR decision."


Is it Union's -- does Union agree with the proposition that using the Board-approved rate of return is required directly or by necessary implication by the NGEIR decision?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We would disagree with that.  In fact, I would go as far as saying those investments likely would not have happened at the regulated rate of return.  I think Mr. Baker was pretty clear when he testified that the regulated rate of return does not provide enough risk balance, risk/reward balance, to justify a risk-use storage investment in that framework.  So you really do need the market exposure.  You need the market rates to support the incremental costs and incremental risk of those assets.


MR. WARREN:  The third point of Mr. Rosenkranz's critique -- I am returning to the first page of his testimony -- pre-filed evidence, I am sorry -- is as follows:

"Union substantially reduces the reported margins on long-term storage services by including a return on purchased assets expense for third-party storage service contracts on top of the actual charges paid to the third-party storage operators.  These additional costs are inappropriate and must be eliminated."


And the fuller statement of that critique appears on page 12 of his pre-filed evidence.


What is -- first of all, what is Mr. Rosenkranz talking about when he talks about the return on purchased assets, and what is your response to his critique?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  When we look at purchasing storage assets, they are typically purchased long-term, so ten years is a common term.  When we buy those storage assets or services, we are actually buying them long-term to support the ex-franchise market.  So it's not being bought at all for the regulated market.  It's all for ex-franchise activity.


And when we go to make a decision on, should we build or should we buy, it's almost the same decision.  It's the same people involved for sure.  And when we looked at the NGEIR decision at the end of '06 and early '07, there was an incentive to try and get as much new storage developed in Ontario as possible, and one way to do that, and a very quick way to do that, is to actually buy incremental storage on a long-term basis.


We actually did that.  We bought a fair bit in '07 and '08, and we use that in the ex-franchise market.  But because we are signing long-term contracts, there is definitely a market risk, which is identical, the same market risk as if you had built storage.


So again, the shareholder is taking that risk, in terms of, the market will definitely fluctuate over the term of the contract, and to compensate the shareholder -- compensate the shareholder for taking that risk, we have added a cost component around that same 8.5 percent threshold number to reflect the risk that the shareholder is taking.


Even with that 8.5 percent cost added, the ratepayer is still sharing in the benefit of those contracts.  So going back to our decision, should we invest in those contracts or not, or sign those contracts or not, had we chosen not to sign those contracts because we thought the risk was too great, then there would be no sharing today.


Given that we have signed the contracts and are into long-term contracts now, even with that premium we are still sharing revenue with the ratepayer, who in this case is enjoying a benefit without having any risk exposure whatsoever.


And our concern, really, is the sharing mechanism goes over, depending on when those contracts were signed, would have had two or three years of sharing.  But at the end of that the shareholder is still exposed to the next six or seven years or eight years of the contract.


And the storage market definitely has cycles to it.  In fact, we are in a very poor storage cycle right now.  And to the extent that we are sharing margin in the first few years with the ratepayer, there is really no one to share the loss in the future years.


So that premium we built in is to compensate the shareholder for the risk and the return again.  But it is very similar to the same discussion we had on the incremental developed assets.


MR. WARREN:  If you would turn up page 12, please, of the pre-filed evidence of Mr. Rosenkranz.  He says in the very last sentence on that page:

"More importantly, however, there is no basis for Union to include in the storage margin calculation any costs other than the direct payments Union makes to third-party storage operators for these storage services."


Now, at the risk of misinterpreting Mr. Rosenkranz, and  I'm sure my friends will correct me if I am wrong, it would appear that Mr. Rosenkranz is saying you are, in effect, double-counting the costs of the purchased assets.  What is your response to that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That -- I would disagree with that. I think the pure cost of the asset is the price we are paying the third party for the contract on an annual basis.  What the incremental margin calculation is doing is really assigning a risk/reward to the contract.


And again I go back to the fact that the market cycles a lot in storage, and if all we are doing is sharing for two or three years, if the rate -- it's going to be the shareholder in the future years that is going the take the loss, and when we make the decision to go into a long-term contract, we're fully expecting the market to cycle, but we're expecting to be able to capture some premiums in early years, because we know -- the storage market early years.  But in later years, when we may actually start losing money, we will have at least made money in the early years, so it really compensates for the cycle of the storage, whereas the fixed price is pretty much fixed.  It may have in some cases an escalator in it from year to year, but for the most part it's a fixed price each year for ten years.


MR. WARREN:  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Warren.


Mr. Aiken?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Aiken:


MR. AIKEN:  Thank you.  I am going to be referring extensively to my compendium, so I hope you all have a copy of it.  I am going to be talking about the account 179-72, which is a long-term peak storage services account.  My questions in this area are going to be generally revolving around three topics, those being the use of the hurdle rate, the return on purchased assets, and resource optimization.


My first question, just to make sure we are working from the same definition, could you please define what you mean by storage capacity?  It's been mentioned a few times today.


MS. CAMERON:  Working capacity is the amount of -- the quantity of storage space that's available to store natural gas for that particular season.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I didn't ask about working capacity.  The general concept of storage capacity, is that a combination of space and deliverability?


MS. CAMERON:  They go together, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn up to the attachment to the response to Exhibit 3.53, which is a FRPO interrogatory, and it's included in my compendium at pages 3 and 4.  Can you confirm that the column labelled "actual" in the attachment matches the 2010 dollar column provided in the response to Board Staff Interrogatory B1.3, which is at -- I provided at pages 5 and 6 of the compendium.


MS. ELLIOTT:  It does, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  And the Staff IR was simply a request to break down the revenues and costs into more detail than was originally provided, correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  At pages 7 and 8 of the compendium, you will see Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 6, pages 1 and 2.  In this exhibit the storage revenues shown are for both the long- and short-term deferral accounts, are shown in a single line, and then there are various costs shown in a number of lines that follow in that table.  That's on the first page.  The second page of the exhibit provides a breakdown of these costs, along with a description of the costs.


Why did Union not provide a further breakdown of the revenues in this exhibit?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It isn't necessarily how we prepare our schedules internally, in terms of detailing the revenue from the different types of services.


MR. AIKEN:  Page 2 of Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 6, or page 8 of the compendium, at line 11 there is a note about an interest rate.  Is the 4.95 percent the Board-approved weighted average interest rate?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it is.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you go back to page 4 of the compendium, the column labelled -- and I quote -- "restated to exclude reductions" column, it shows increase in revenues of 18,727,000, and then a corresponding increase in cost for the incremental storage of the same amount.


Why did Union reduce the revenue shown, rather than showing the incremental storage cost as a cost?  Does this go back to how you do it internally, again?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It's how we do our accounting internally.  The costs of third-party storage are net against revenues.


MR. AIKEN:  Am I correct that the 18.7 million in incremental storage costs include about 10.7 million for storage services contracted from other parties, and $8 million for resource optimization?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, Ms. Elliott, you and Ms. Cameron described resource optimization at the technical conference.  I have included pages in the -- at pages 11 and 12 of the compendium, a couple of pages from the transcript.


And in particular at the middle of page 49 of the transcript, Mr. Thompson asks you, Ms. Elliott:

"I understand the difference of" 8 million and change "to be costs related to storage loans or something to that effect.  Have I got that straight, Ms. Elliott?"


And your response is:

"That's my understanding.  The difference is the resource optimization costs; primarily the gas loans."


For clarification, are there other components of the resource optimization costs other than the gas loans?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Not to my knowledge, no.


MR. AIKEN:  So there is no -- I forget the exact words used by Mr. Feingold in his study, but it was something like encroachment?  It was gas loans and encroachment?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No, no.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  At the top of the next page of the transcript so, this is page 50 of the transcript, Ms. Cameron indicates that this $8 million of costs is associated with purchasing gas loans, and that no affiliates were involved.  Is that correct?


MS. CAMERON:  That is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Was this one gas loan, or multiple gas loans?


MS. CAMERON:  Multiple gas loans.


MR. AIKEN:  Do you have an idea of roughly how many?


MS. CAMERON:  No.


MR. AIKEN:  I want to walk you through the exchange now, and this is at pages 13 and 14 of my compendium, pages 63 and 64 of the transcript from the technical conference.  And this was an exchange that took place between Ms. Elliott, Mr. Isherwood and Mr. Quinn, and the reason I am doing this is because I find it confusing in some respects in some respects anyway.


So about a third of the way down, Mr. Isherwood speaks of the example that Ms. Cameron provided, which I understand was like a two- or three-year long-term loan that was being enabled.  So Mr. Isherwood says:

"So the example that Ms. Cameron provided was that where we did a loan within a year, what we would normally do in that case -- and what we are trying to do, obviously, is take gas off the system for that October 31st peak day, so to the extent you can take gas off the system in July and bring it back in November or December, it frees up peak capacity."


So stopping there, and putting this in context for 2010, what you are saying is that the gas loans you purchased took gas off the system sometime before October 31st and put the gas back on sometime after October 31st?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We do a range of different loans, but the example I was giving here was take the gas off in July and bring it back in November and December.  And that's a fairly common type of loan we do.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  So in general, these gas loans --without looking at a specific one -- is take the gas off before October 31st and the gas comes back on sometime after that?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.


Then you go on to say, Mr. Isherwood:

"And we would combine that with some renewal contracts that are coming up in the following April, to be able to sell a multiyear, sometimes two-, sometimes three-year deal, based on the combined resource gas loan and renewed capacity."


So when you refer to April there, are you referring to April of 2011 in this context?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Yes, in the context of we do the loan in, call it, the fall of 2010.  Then we would marry that up with renewal contracts that are coming up April of '11.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, that's the part where I get confused, when you say marry up with renewal contracts.


Are these renewal contracts with the parties that you are providing the new storage capacity to?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, all of our storage contracts don't have -- none of them have renewal rights.  They all have a very fixed term, a finite term, so if we have a customer whose contract we know is expiring on March 31 of 2011, we would take the resource gas loan and use the created space for the winter of '10 and '11, and then on April 1st when we have that, call it, PJ of space come available, we will then use that PJ of available space to do the two-year deal or three-year deal.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That's the part where I was getting confused, because if somebody has a contract that expires on March 31st, 2011, why do you have to free up capacity for him in October of 2010?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We don't.  We don't.  So it's a totally different shipper, totally different storage customer.


So customer A would have the contract that expires on March 31, 2011; customer B, because we freed up the space in that first fall period of '10, '11, we then give -- we use the freed-up capacity for customer B during that fall and winter of '10, '11.  And then come April 1st of 2011, we would give him the space that was being otherwise used in the previous two years by customer A.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I come to that conclusion later on.  Okay.  So I understand that.


So then my question is what you are really doing is you are -- through the gas loans or through the resource optimization, you are not only selling years 2 and 3, but you are advancing the contract by one year?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  In essence, that's true.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then on the beginning of the top of the next page, page 64 of the transcript, Mr. Quinn is asking:

"Does the cost get incurred at the time of transaction of gas to the third party or when it's returned?"


And Ms. Elliott, you respond that:

"The costs will be reflected as they are incurred to match the revenue that's generated by the long-term storage contract."


What do you mean by "match the revenue"?


MS. ELLIOTT:  So in the example that we just went through, the loan was incurred to generate the first-year storage revenue in the contract, so the revenue would be recorded for the first year, and the loan costs would be recorded for the first year.


MR. AIKEN:  So is that what you mean at –- at line 13, you say that:

"The cost of the gas loan will get spread over the first year, which is the period in which they are incurred."


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  So really it's in one year?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So I guess the question I am getting to is -- and you just alluded to it, Ms. Elliott -- is how much incremental long-term storage revenue is generated in 2010 as a result of the gas loans purchased in 2010?  And then what is the incremental revenue in subsequent years as a result of those contracts signed that were enabled by the resource optimization in 2010?


[Witness panel confers.]


MS. ELLIOTT:  We don't have the revenue divided out, so that we can't identify the revenue to match the costs that caused it.


But the second part of your question is the revenues in years 2 and 3 come from the physical storage, not the created space.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes, but the point I am trying to get at is if you spent $8 million to create storage space and capacity in the first year of a three-year contract, or a number of two- or three-year contracts, are you only getting, for example, maybe $4 million of revenue in 2010 another 4 million in 2011, and another 4 million in 2012, so that over the long term, it makes sense you would make this investment.  But are you creating a loss in 2010?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  No.  We always create a net margin or profit from it.  So we would only create storage if we can actually sell storage in that same first year for more than the cost of creating the storage.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That's what I wanted confirmed.  Okay.


I am moving on to the topic of return on purchased assets.


In addition to the $8 million in resource optimization costs, there is the 10.7 million I noted before, with storage services contracted from other parties that are included in the cost, used in the calculation of the net revenue in account 179-72, and this is part of the 18.7 million shown in the attachment at page 4 of the compendium.


Are these parties the ones shown in the response to Exhibit B3.15, which I have included at page 9 of the compendium?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Those are the parties that we have the third-party storage contracts with.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, I think I am correct here, but my understanding is that Union is claiming the $10.7 million paid to the owners of these storage assets for the services purchased by Union as a cost in calculating the net revenue in the deferral account, and in addition you are claiming a cost of 6.6 million, which is shown in this table as a cost in the calculation of the net revenue of the account; that's correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  How is this cost of 6.6 million treated for income-tax purposes for Union?


MS. ELLIOTT:  This is a deemed return calculation, but the return on storage investments would be treated as income for Union's tax purposes.


MR. AIKEN:  So it's income, but not a cost, for tax purposes.


MS. ELLIOTT:  This is not a cost, no.  This is a return component, so it would be taxable under Canadian tax laws.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, the 6.6 million is referred to as a return on purchased assets.  As I understand it, these assets are owned by other parties, and that Union has not purchased any of these assets, correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.  They are all essentially a storage service contract, long-term.


MR. AIKEN:  They are purchased services rather than purchased assets.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  So these assets, whatever you want to call them, do not show up in your balance sheet.  These are not assets on Union's balance sheet.


MS. ELLIOTT:  These are contracts to purchase storage capacity long-term, but they are not reflected on our balance sheet, no.


MR. AIKEN:  So why have you called these purchased assets, rather than purchased services, throughout the evidence?  When I think of purchased assets I think of going out and buying a car, but this is my car you are driving.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  They are definitely service contracts that are long-term.  They have sort of the same feel of an asset.  But to your point, they are not a purchased asset.


MR. AIKEN:  And in this application has Union referred to these purchased assets in any other way?  Like, purchased services, purchased capacity?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am not sure.


MS. ELLIOTT:  They may have been referred to as purchased capacity, but generally speaking I think we -- they are purchased assets or purchased capacity.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  From a regulatory accounting perspective, what do you call assets that you do not own but seek to earn a return on equity from?  Is there a special term?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No.


MR. AIKEN:  Would you like to hear one?


[Laughter]


MR. SMITH:  I am sure I can read about it at some point, maybe about a week from now.


MR. AIKEN:  Then I will put forward, I will call them phantom assets.


Union purchases other services from parties, do they not, items like upstream transportation from TransCanada, Vector Alliance, Panhandle, and so on?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the difference in this case is, on those type of assets, it's actually a flow-through to the ratepayer.  To the extent their tolls change or the market risk -- the market risk is not borne by Union Gas shareholder.  As long as we acted prudently, it's -- the risk is borne by the ratepayer, and that's quite different in this case.


As I mentioned earlier on, these contracts were all entered into for the benefit of the ex-franchise market, which, under the NGEIR decision, is really a shareholder risk.


MR. AIKEN:  Does Union do all of its own pipeline construction work, or does it contract out to -- some of that work out to third parties?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actual construction?


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  A lot of it will be contracted out.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Does Union contract out to third parties for call centres, legal work, consulting services, and that type of thing?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Consulting, for sure.


MR. AIKEN:  And I assume legal?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Legal as well.


MR. SMITH:  I hope so.


MR. AIKEN:  In a cost-of-service application, would Union include a cost in the revenue requirement related to the return on the assets owned and used by the third parties to provide these services to Union?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Again, those costs are a flow-through to the ratepayer.  In this case any risk or reward of the flow-through to the shareholder, and that's really the distinction we made.


MR. AIKEN:  Could I have you turn to Exhibit B1.26.  And I am sorry, I don't have this in my compendium.  This is a response to a Board Staff IR.  Again, that's B1.26.  On page 2 of 3 of that response, about halfway down, there is a paragraph that starts with "Union uses".  It says:

"Union uses a combination of owned assets and purchased capacity on the Dawn-Trafalgar system to provide service to customers in the north.  These costs are recovered from customers in the north storage rates and are not subject to deferral."


So I assume, Mr. Isherwood, your response is the same, that these are costs paid by ratepayers?


MS. ELLIOTT:  These costs are costs that are paid for by the ratepayers and flowed through in-franchise rates.


MR. AIKEN:  But it also says they're not subject to deferral, so there is no deferral or variance account around the amounts, so --


MS. ELLIOTT:  This particular interrogatory response refers to the TransCanada toll variance account, and these are not subject to variances in tolls.


MR. AIKEN:  So any risk is borne by Union?  Variance from the costs included in rates.


MS. ELLIOTT:  If the variance -- the variance in tolls is subject to -- is shareholder risk.  Any variance in service requirement will be offset by utility revenue.  To the extent that we needed more capacity, then there is an offset in revenue.


MR. AIKEN:  Is there a return on equity associated with this purchased capacity on the Dawn-Trafalgar system that's recovered through the north storage rates?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No, there is not.  There is only a return on equity on the Union-owned assets.


MR. AIKEN:  If we go back to the $10.7 million being paid for these storage services, would it be reasonable to infer that this revenue is covering costs, such as depreciation, OM&A, property and income taxes, cost of debt, and providing a return in equity to the actual owners of these assets?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I would assume so, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  If you go back to Exhibit B3.15 and page 9 of the compendium, are any of these assets owned by affiliates of Union?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  The Huron-Tipperary pool is 75 percent owned by Union Gas.  The MHP-St. Clair pool is owned by MHP, which would be an affiliate of Union Gas.  And the Sarnia Airport is a joint venture between AltaGas and MHP.


MR. AIKEN:  I am curious.  Earlier today both you, Mr. Isherwood, and Ms. Elliott referred to these as third-party contracts.  It's really only third-party contracts for Washington 10 and Michigan Gateway; is that correct?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Well, for each of these -- each of these listed pools there is a gas purchase contract in place for each of the five, including the three with Huron-Tipperary, MHP, St. Clair and Sarnia Airport.


MR. AIKEN:  But they are not true third-party contracts?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Three of these parties are related.


MR. AIKEN:  Yes.  Okay.


If you go back to page 4 of the compendium.  This is the attachment to Exhibit B3.53.


Do the long-term revenues of 130.7 million include Union's share of the revenues generated by these pools we were just talking about, where Union Gas has a direct ownership?  Which I guess are the Huron-Tipperary and Sarnia Airport pools?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It's only Huron-Tipperary that Union has a direct ownership.  The other two are a market hub.


And no...


MR. AIKEN:  So there is no revenues from Huron-Tipperary in the 130 million?


MS. ELLIOTT:  There is not, no.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Aiken, can I just get a time check from you?  I'm just looking at a time to take a break.  The clock on the wall isn't giving us much information on that.


[Laughter]


MR. QUESNELLE:  I have got 5 after 3:00.


MR. AIKEN:  No, this would be a good time.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Why don't we break for 15 minutes?  Thank you.


--- Recess taken at 3:07 p.m.


--- On resuming at 3:26 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Aiken, whenever you're ready.


MR. AIKEN:  Ms. Elliott, I just wanted to follow up on your last answer that the no revenue from Huron-Tipperary shows up in the 130 million.  Did Union receive any revenue in 2010 from the Huron-Tipperary pool?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The revenue of the Huron-Tipperary partnership, the revenue and the costs, are excluded from this, but on a consolidated basis the Union financial statements do include Huron-Tipperary in their consolidated results.


MR. AIKEN:  So your financial statements then, in terms of storage, would have a regulated number, an unregulated number, and then this Huron-Tipperary item.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's true.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  If you could turn to Exhibit B3.17.  And again, I apologize.  This is not in my compendium.  It's a FRPO interrogatory response.  But in the middle of the response, under the heading "calculation is as follows", there is a number, 229,266.  I am assuming that's your current -- or the 2010 rate base -- storage rate base number, regulated and unregulated?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  That's just the unregulated storage rate base number for Union Gas.


MR. AIKEN:  Then why are you subtracting off the 106,300 figure?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The 106- was the rate base for C1 storage in the Board-approved rate, so that was the rate base existing at the time of the separation, and since then it has grown to $229 million.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, does that number include any investments in Huron-Tipperary?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It does not.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And if you can turn up Exhibit K1.4, this is the September 15th letter from Union with the two attachments to it.  And I am specifically looking at attachment 1.


MS. ELLIOTT:  I have that.


MR. AIKEN:  Can you reconcile the 229 million we just talked about on B3.17 with the 264,173 shown in the 2010 column?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, the difference is the Huron-Tipperary investment.


MR. AIKEN:  So that accounts for the difference of about 35 million.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Back on Exhibit B3.15, compendium page 9, at the bottom of this exhibit there is a calculation that shows how Union's arrived at the 6.63 million return on equity associated with the assets of the services, sorry.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  One of the assumptions is the capital cost of $10 per GJ if Union were to develop the assets.  Has Union provided any evidence in this proceeding to support that figure?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  We have not.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  I am going on to the hurdle-rate issue now.  Same page 9 of the compendium, right at the bottom.  It is shown as 14.4 percent, and there is an equity component of 36 percent, to get the 5.8 percent that's used to calculate the 6.63 million.  Where does the 36 percent come from?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's Union's approved common equity percentage.


MR. AIKEN:  So that's the current Board-approved equity component.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  What is the relationship, if any, between the hurdle rate of 14.4 percent and the Board-approved return on equity, which I think is 8.54 percent?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Actually, we do talk about the source of the 14.4 in Exhibit B3.54, and it's actually part of the A response.  So I had mentioned earlier on this afternoon that as spectra the minimum threshold for taking a project forward is an IRR of 8.5 percent, and when you convert the IRR into an ROE, it's a 14.4.


MR. AIKEN:  So I take it from that response that there is really no direct relationship between the 14.4 and the Board-approved rate of 8.54?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think the relationship here is, again, we are into the unregulated world, so we actually have a choice of building an asset or buying, I am going to call it an asset, but only because there's a long-term storage deal.  So whether you buy or build, we are using the same threshold decision, and for me to attract capital to a storage investment I would need to have an IOR of at least 8.5 percent or higher.  So this whole calculation is really a deemed calculation to reflect the risk of doing these purchase storage deals.


MR. AIKEN:  So you are essentially saying that the Board-approved return on equity is not relevant for the investment, the new investment, after the NGEIR decision.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So if that -- if the Board-approved return on equity is not relevant for the calculation used for the deferral account, why is the equity component of 36 percent relevant to the unregulated business and to the calculation?


MS. ELLIOTT:  We continue to use the 36 percent equity component for the unregulated operation just for simplicity's sake, rather than moving to a different equity component.  Operationally, that's in fact what we are doing, in terms of maintaining equity within Union Gas.


MR. AIKEN:  So your equity component underpinning your unregulated storage is in the 36 percent range?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It is, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Now, Exhibit B3.54 -- this is page 16 of the compendium.  And I think this is what you were talking about, Mr. Isherwood, the 8.5 percent internal rate of return.


Can you provide the costs and weights of the other sources of financing referred to in this response?  In other words, we have 36 percent of 14.4, and there are other sources of financing to get you the 8.5.  Can you provide the debt and whatever other sources of financing you are using and what those rates are?


MS. ELLIOTT:  We don't have that information with us at this point.


MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to obtain it?  I mean, somebody must know how the 8.5 percent was calculated, given that you know some of the components already.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, we can do that.


MR. SMITH:  Just, I missed the reference to the interrogatory you were at, Mr. Aiken.  So --


MR. AIKEN:  B3.54.


MR. SMITH:  Okay.  I see.


MS. SEBALJ:  So we will mark that as Undertaking J1.3,subject to -- Mr. Smith, are you --


MR. SMITH:  Yes, that's quite all right.  I just wanted to make sure for my own notes I had it.


MS. SEBALJ:  It's J1.3.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO PROVIDE THE DEBT AND WHATEVER OTHER SOURCES OF FINANCING ARE BEING USED AND WHAT THOSE RATES ARE

MR. AIKEN:  I am turning now to the response to Exhibit B3.18.  It is at pages 17 and 18 of my compendium.  First, am I correct that the figures shown on the attachment to the response shows the difference in the cost used to calculate the net revenue account 179-72, and only the difference related to the return?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  So the return on purchased assets is included in both sets of calculations.


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it is.


MR. AIKEN:  I just wanted to clarify that.  Okay.


Now, the response on the first page of that IR, B3.18, indicates that:

"The allocation of costs, including a required return on rate base investment that is calculated for deferral account disposition purposes, is consistent with the traditional revenue requirement calculation."


First, do you really mean a required return, or an approved return?  And if the former, if required, can you point to a board decision and/or deferral account disposition that did not use the Board-approved return on equity in the calculations?


[witness panel confers]


MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, you may have to repeat the question.


MR. AIKEN:  My question is essentially:  Are you using "required" and "approved" interchangeably in this IR response?


MS. ELLIOTT:  In this case, we are using the required return on rate base for the deferral account purposes.


MR. AIKEN:  And your required return includes the hurdle rate?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  That's fine.  That clarifies it.


The response also goes on to state that:

"This approach is consistent with the methodology used to cost storage services in the 2007 rate case, which was accepted by the Board in the NGEIR decision."


Are you saying that the Board approved storage services costed with some storage assets at the approved return on equity of 8.45 percent, and some storage assets at some other level of return not approved by the Board?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No.  In the cost study used to set rates, all the assets at the time would have been costed at the required return.


MR. AIKEN:  In the response to part (c) of B3.54 -- this is back to page 16 of the compendium -- Union indicates that:

"The methodology with respect to the post-tax hurdle rate that Union is using to calculate the storage margins to be shared is consistent with the approach used to set Board-approved rates."


Can you provide examples of how the Board has done this to set Board-approved rates?


I am not talking about deferral account disposition, but the actual setting of rates.


MS. ELLIOTT:  We are referring to the methodology.  We are referring to the methodology of including a required return in the setting of rates.


MR. AIKEN:  Well, which rates are you asking to be set in this proceeding?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Sorry, we are not using -- we are not asking rates to be set in this proceeding.


But in setting rates, there is a return component built into the utility's revenue requirement.


In calculating this deferral, we have included a return component, in calculating the margin to be shared.


MR. AIKEN:  Can you provide an example of how the Board has done this to set approved rates, where part of it is at the Board-approved rate and part is at some other rate?


MS. ELLIOTT:  And that's not the methodology that I was referring to.


The methodology was including a return, not necessarily the fact that there is two different returns used in the calculation.


MR. AIKEN:  The response also indicates that:

"No specific approval of this approach was obtained."


My question is:  Has Union ever sought specific approval of the approach being used in 2010?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The methodology has been used since the NGEIR decision, so it's been included in the disposition of the deferral account since that point.  But no specific approval of that return or that -- the two returns was sought or obtained.


MR. AIKEN:  Specifically in relation to the 2007 rate case, did Union include in the 2007 revenue requirement any return on purchased storage assets for storage assets not included in rate base?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No.


MR. AIKEN:  Has Union ever requested approval of the concept of a return on purchased assets?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No.


MR. AIKEN:  Has Union obtained any specific approval to utilize this content?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No.


MR. AIKEN:  Back on the specifics of the hurdle rate of 14.4 percent return on equity and/or the 8.5 IRR, is this a short-term requirement –- say, for one year -- or is it a requirement for every year, or is it a long-term requirement over the life of the asset, or a combination of the above?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. ELLIOTT:  The -- can you repeat the requirement you are asking about?


MR. AIKEN:  The internal rate of return, the 8.5 percent, is that a short-term requirement for one year, or is it a requirement for every year of the life of the assets, or is it a requirement for the life of the assets?


In other words, over the 50-year storage life, you want to earn, or your shareholder wants you to earn a minimum of 8.5 percent but you don't have to earn it every year?


MS. ELLIOTT:  It's over the life of the investment.


MR. AIKEN:  This goes back, Mr. Isherwood, to your cycle of storage prices.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  Correct.


MR. AIKEN:  And -- okay.


If you could turn to page 19 of the compendium, it's an IR response, B5.2.


This response indicates that:

"There has been no change in the methodology used to allocate costs to Union's unregulated storage activity from that used in EB-2010-0039."


Now, I note that the question asked about operating costs, but the answer appears to cover all costs.


Am I correct on that interpretation?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Then on the next page of the compendium, page 20, the similar question and response.  It's Exhibit B7.02 in EB-2010-0039, asks the same question with respect to the methodology to allocate operating costs from that approved in EB-2009-0052.


And the answer, again, indicates no change in the allocation of costs.


And again, I assume that's all costs?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.


MR. AIKEN:  Following page of the compendium, page 21, the Exhibit B5.2 from EB-2009-0052, part (d) of that question asked Union to:

"Confirm that the actual net revenue of 51.478 million for 2008 has been calculated in compliance with the Board's EB-2008-0034 decision."


The response provided is:

"Confirmed."


First, will you take it, subject to check, that the 51.478 million refers to the net revenue in account 179-27?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Can you provide a little bit of detail and background on what the EB-2008-0034 proceeding was about in respect of the 2007 balances in account 179-72?  Or is that testing your memory?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Well, it is testing my memory, but I believe that was the hearing that dealt with the issue of the -- in the 2007 deferral account disposition, where we had originally only included the revenues from existing storage and excluded the revenue from incremental storage.


The decision came back, and said:  All revenue should be included.  So we refiled -- the deferral account disposition in '08 was consistent with that decision, in that it included all revenue from storage.


MR. AIKEN:  You remembered more than I found out through my research.  Thank you.


If you can go back to page 8 of the compendium.  This is the description provided in Exhibit A, tab 1, schedule 6 of the costs included in the net revenue calculation.  At line 6 there is a direct allocation to long-term storage as per Union's 2007 approved cost allocation study for third-party storage.  Could you explain what this third-party storage is?


MS. ELLIOTT:  At the time of the NGEIR decision Union had one existing contract for third-party storage purchased from Enbridge.  It's the Black Creek storage pool.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  And again, I apologize.  I don't have this in my compendium, but it's page 3-11 in the Black & Veatch report.  There is a paragraph there.  I will just read it in.  It says:

"Finally, Union's Board-approved 2007 cost allocation study includes an allocation of $0.179 million of costs associated with the purchase of a third-party storage base (Enbridge Black Creek) to its unregulated storage operations."


Is this the same item that we just talked about in line 6?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, it is.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  Does the $179,000 identified in both places that you say comes out of the Board-approved 2007 cost allocation study include both the cost of the purchased services and a return on the purchased asset for the Enbridge Black Creek pool?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No, it's only the direct cost of the purchased asset -- purchase storage.


MR. AIKEN:  If you could turn to the last page of the compendium.  Here you will find attachment -- the attachment to Undertaking JTC1.2.  This undertaking asks that the return for 2010 be broken down into existing assets, incremental storage additions, and purchased storage using the return in the filing and the Board-approved return.


Before I go on I want to make clear that the Union response ends at line 4, and that everything below that in that table is something that I have created and we will get to in a moment.  And in fact, we are going to get to it right now.


It's a simple two-by-two matrix of the various outcomes, whether the Board approves the hurdle rate, "yes" or "no", and whether the Board approves the inclusion of purchase assets in the calculations.


Will you take it subject to check that, based on the numbers provided in the undertaking response at the top of the page, that this matrix reflects the potential outcomes?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Would these costs be further influenced by tax implications?


MS. ELLIOTT:  They would, yes.


MR. AIKEN:  Would you undertake to provide a matrix similar to mine but inclusive of the tax consequences?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I can do that.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, we will do that.


MS. SEBALJ:  It's J1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE A MATRIX INCLUSIVE OF THE TAX CONSEQUENCES AND TO CALCULATE WHAT THE RETURN ON EQUITY FOR 2010 WOULD BE

MR. AIKEN:  In my notes I was about to say my final question, but it's my -- it's not my final question, but it's going to go back to attachment 1 in Exhibit K1.4, where you calculate the 2010 return on equity of 50 percent.  And it ties into the matrix we have just been looking at.


And my question is:  What would be the return on equity for 2010 on the unregulated storage investment if the long-term storage premium shown at line 7 in attachment 1 was adjusted to reflect the removal of the return on purchased assets and the removal of the incremental return at the hurdle rate along with the tax impacts?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The long-term storage premium at lines 7 and 8 are not the deferral account disposition numbers.  Those are the credits to existing rates that were built into rates in 2007 that have subsequently been scaled back.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So this calculation, attachment 1, for all three of these years does not reflect the ratepayer portion of either one of those deferral accounts?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct.  It's after the deferral account calculation -- after the deferral account disposition.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  When you say "after", what does that mean, precisely?


MS. ELLIOTT:  The earnings on line 1 -- just let me confirm.  The earnings before interest and taxes is net of the deferral account disposition.


MR. AIKEN:  Okay.  So if I rephrase my question, if line 1 were to be changed for a deferral account that did not include the hurdle rate and the return on purchased assets, could you calculate what the return on equity for 2010 would be?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, we can do that.


MR. AIKEN:  Maybe you can add that to the previous undertaking.


MR. SMITH:  That's fine.


MR. AIKEN:  Now, my final question had to do with some of the discussion earlier with Mr. Thompson on short-term and long-term storage transactions.  My understanding that anything under the 100 PJs not used or not needed for Union's in-franchise customers Union would sell short-term, but not long-term; is that correct?


MS. CAMERON:  That is correct.


MR. AIKEN:  And then anything over the 100 petaJoules which the Board has deemed to be a non-utility asset, does Union always sell that, along with the resource optimization, but in terms of the physical capacity, the 60-some petaJoules over the 100, does Union always sell that as long-term storage, or are there times when you sell some of that as short-term as well?


MS. CAMERON:  We sell that all long-term.


MR. AIKEN:  Is there a possibility in the future that some of that could be sold short-term, or that's not in your plans?


MS. CAMERON:  Not under the current regulatory framework.  We won't change.


MR. AIKEN:  Those are my questions, thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Aiken.


Mr. Quinn?


MR. GRUENBAUER:  I will go, if that's all right, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.

Cross-Examination by MR. Gruenbauer:

MR. GRUENBAUER:  And I'll be ploughing a little bit of the same ground as my friends before me, but hopefully very briefly.  I've got two areas that I'd like to explore.  I just wanted to start with Mr. Feingold's evidence.


If you can please turn up schedule 16 that we have talked about several times, at page 2 of 2, that includes that line, "resource optimization", and if you can keep your finger on that and just also turn up in your evidence at page 2-5, which is the section 2.4 dealing with accounting, a couple of paragraphs dealing with accounting issues.


Have you got that, Mr. Feingold?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, I do.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  First I am going to play back what I think I heard you say to Mr. Thompson this morning, that you really couldn't comment on the specifics of that 14.8 PJs of resource optimization, how it was created from gas loans and encroachment.  Your understanding was that it arose from the integrated nature of Union's storage, but you simply dealt with it in terms of a reconciling item, and that was within your scope.  Have I restated what you said this morning correctly?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Yes, you have.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  What I wanted to ask you was a what-if question, if you can look at what you said at page 2-5, with respect to the three options that were available to Union.  And I am reading from the second line in section 2.4:

"There could be a functional separation, an accounting separation or an asset divestiture."


Those three options were available to the Board at the time of the NGEIR decision; you see that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  And you recall we talked, you and I personally talked about this a little but when we met back in December; is that correct, as well?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I do recall that.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  My question is pretty simple, just a what-if.


It strikes me that the resource optimization is a happy byproduct of accounting separation.  If another model had have been followed -- for example, a functional separation or a divestiture -- then perhaps that reconciling item wouldn't have been something you needed to reconcile, or it might have been a different number; is that fair?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, I think the reason that a reconciliation was even included in the Black & Veatch study's scope of work was because of an accounting separation, rather than the use of either a functional separation or a divestiture.


So it's because of that that I had to address that issue in the report.  But as I understand it, whether there was an accounting separation, a functional separation or an asset divestiture, Union would operate its storage facilities on an integrated basis and take advantage, to the extent they could, of optimization opportunities that would arise during the course of their operating of the fields.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.  So if the proposition is resource optimization arises because of Union's operation of its storage assets on an integrated basis, is that a proposition that the Union panel members can agree with?  Can you agree with that?  Do you agree with what Mr. Rosenkranz just said, and can you agree with the proposition I just put to you?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Mr. Feingold.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Oh, sorry.  What did I say?  I apologize.  Mr. Feingold.


Do you agree with Mr. Feingold, Mr. Isherwood?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I am trying to think back what exactly he said, but I think he said all three would be similar.  I am not sure if asset divestiture would be similar, if you are actually selling the assets.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  That struck me, as well, Mr. Isherwood, but I guess the proposition that I am just seeking some measure of agreement on is resource optimization arises due the integrated nature of Union's storage operations; is that a proposition you can agree with?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  I think if the utility assets were separated from the non-utility assets in terms of storage, whichever company was operating the non-utility assets could still -- would still do the optimization.  And it would be not a much different result, because we primarily optimized around the non-utility assets.


MR. FEINGOLD:  Can I just clarify for the record that I wasn't talking about whether that level of optimization would occur under each of those scenarios?


I was simply talking about the act of attempting to optimize storage, and in my view, even under asset divestiture, there would still be a desire on the part of the operator of the storage fields to try to optimize their use.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Okay.


MR. ISHERWOOD:  And I would agree with that.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you for that.


Just shifting gears a little bit to accounting, and I suspect these questions will be primarily for you, Ms. Elliott, just back to first principles.


With respect to the deferral accounts 179-70 and –72, those accounts were originally established by accounting order issued by the Board; is that correct?


MS. ELLIOTT:  That's correct, yes.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  And I haven't seen, I haven't reviewed those accounting orders in quite some time, and I don't believe they are included in the material here.


So I am just going to ask questions off my memory, and see if I am correct in what the thrust of those accounting orders do.


You basically would set up the account and authorize Union to record amounts in those deferral accounts.  That's step one; is that fair?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes, that's fair.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Now, for these two storage deferral accounts in particular, do you make a single entry on a net basis, or do you record actual credits and debits, where credits presumably would be the revenues and the debits would be the costs, and then the net is what's left over?


MS. ELLIOTT:  We record a net entry every month into this account, which is the difference between the net revenue, or in some cases it's referred to as margin, the actuals for the period, versus the Board-approved for the same period.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you.  So if I can ask you to turn up Exhibit -- your prefiled Exhibit A, tab 1, at page 5 and page 6; do you have that?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I do.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  On page 5, at line 5 and 6, it speaks to deferral account 179-70, and states:

"The net margin for short-term storage and other balancing services is determined by deducting the costs incurred to provide service from the gross revenue."


I am stressing the words "costs incurred."


Do you see that?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  I think if you flip over to page 6, you see something very similar at the top of page 6 at line 1 and 2, where it reads:

"The net margin for long-term storage services is determined by deducting the costs incurred to provide the service from gross revenue."


You see that, as well?


MS. ELLIOTT:  Yes.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  You'll remember back at the technical conference, Ms. Elliott, we spoke a little bit about

this -- and I apologize, I didn't provide a compendium, given the brevity of my questions -- at transcript page 77 from the technical conference?


MR. SMITH:  We will just provide to the witnesses, Mr. Gruenbauer.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Page reference, sir?


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Yes, Mr. Smith, it's at page 77.  The operative part is starting at line 10.


Ms. Elliott says:

"The calculation of the deferral account or the earnings-sharing calculation, for that matter, when you get to the interest return and tax calculation, those are all deemed calculations.  They are not the actual costs incurred by the utility."


You see that, Ms. Elliott?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I see that, yes.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  And you recall the conversation that we had?


MS. ELLIOTT:  I do.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  So what I am struggling with here is trying to understand the difference between how the costs are described or attributed in your evidence between costs incurred versus deemed costs.  And the question I would like to put to you is:  Are you comfortable with the notion of deemed costs as part of an amount that you would put into a deferral account that's established by an accounting order, where there would have been expectation at that time that there would be actual costs associated with those entries?


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just – just --


MR. GRUENBAUER:  That was clumsily phrased.


MR. SMITH:  Well, I also think that it's not particularly fair to put to the witness the words in the accounting order without providing it to the witness.  I mean, you...


MR. GRUENBAUER:  I agree with you, Mr. Smith.  Let me try and ask the question another way.


When would it be appropriate, in your view, to use deemed costs for purposes of Union's deferral account entries, bookkeeping, and why?


MS. ELLIOTT:  To the extent that we are dealing with return and tax calculations that are done on the same basis as the utility return and tax calculations are done, and those are always deemed costs, those are appropriate to be included in the deferral account.


Looking at our evidence, we may have oversimplified the language by just referring to them as costs incurred.  It should have more clearly been described as costs or deemed costs.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you, Ms. Elliott.


Mr. Feingold, you spoke earlier several times in your exchange with Mr. Thompson about the importance of recognizing cost causation as a fundamental principle in any good cost allocation study.  Do you recall that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  I do.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Having heard Ms. Elliott's explanation just now, do you have any concerns with the use of deemed calculations for purposes of allocating costs between Union's regulated and unregulated storage operations?


MR. FEINGOLD:  Well, as I understand the use of deemed costs for purposes of Union's unregulated storage operations, and in particular the long-term account, those are effectively directly assigned to those transactions and to those assets, and the only connection that exists between the unregulated part of the business and the regulated part is through the margin-sharing that is embodied in the deferral accounts.


So from my standpoint, I was talking with regard to cost causation first and foremost from the standpoint of trying to ensure that the costs that had to be allocated to services or to regulated versus unregulated operations reflected cost causation, and in my mind many of those cost-causative factors are embodied in the 2007 cost allocation study, which specifically sought to separate or allocate costs between the regulated and unregulated storage businesses.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Thank you for that.


With respect to Mr. Aiken's line of questioning and his characterization of the deemed return on purchased storage asset as a phantom cost, does that not give you some discomfort with respect to maintaining the integrity of cost causation in a cost allocation study?


MR. FEINGOLD:  First off, again, I don't see that within the context of a cost allocation study.  That is another aspect of the deemed cost that Ms. Elliott referred to earlier, that is directly attributable to the long-term storage activities.


And secondly, I am not sure I agree with the characterization of it as a phantom cost.  I think from the standpoint of investment decisions on the part of Union those are real considerations.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  But you would have to agree with me if I put it to you that Mr. Aiken is right, they are not a real cost, they haven't been tangibly incurred and paid out of cash by Union, and in that sense they are phantom.  Can you not agree with that?


MR. FEINGOLD:  They are certainly not in a booked cost like an O&M cost or an O&M expense.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Ms. Elliott, does this not give you some discomfort as a chartered accountant and a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants, where a deemed return on equity is added to a purchased service as if the party purchasing that service actually shelled out capital up front?  Does that not violate accounting principles that you would be very familiar with?


MS. ELLIOTT:  No, it doesn't.  It's not an accounting transaction, but it is to recognize that the shareholder made investments in either long-term contracts or in constructed assets and expected a return.  So the return that's included in a utility revenue requirement, that's included in the calculation of the deferral account, is a calculation of what the shareholder expects to earn to compensate them for the investment.  It's the product on the income statement, not -- it's not a cost line.  It's the result of the revenues less the expenses.


So in recognizing the purchase contracts, there is an expectation of a return requirement for those long-term commitments that we entered into.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  Correct me if I am wrong, Mr. Isherwood.  These long-term contracts that you have entered into that Mr. Aiken walked you through, none of those contracts for a ten-year period required any 100 percent up-front take or pay capital outlays that would be equivalent to the shareholder actually plunking down some cash to build, right?


MR. ISHERWOOD:  What the shareholder is plunking down cash on, though, is the cost of the storage over the life of ten years.  So if you take, for example, an 80 cents storage cost, which I have said is quite common on this list of contracts, over ten years that's $8 per MCF, which is not too far from the $10 calculation that we have used elsewhere in the books.  So it's not investment in capital, but it's still, a shareholder is risking real dollars on those contracts.


And to kind of summarize where Ms. Elliott was, you can calculate that risk premium in many different ways, but because for us it is either a buy or build, going back, and you're trying to equate it back to what the capital expense would have been is, I think, a very fair way of doing it, instead of picking some random percent premium to put on top of the cost.  It makes it very much equivalent to being a buy or build type of decision.


MR. GRUENBAUER:  I understand your answer.  It will not surprise you that we don't agree.


Thank you.  Those are my questions, thank you, sir.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Gruenbauer.

Procedural Matters:


Mr. Quinn, can we get a time check?  I'm just trying to get an estimate as to whether or not we have any hope of completing today or not, so yourself or Mr. Thompson.


MR. QUINN:  Yes, sir.  I think that I am going to be probably 45 minutes to an hour, and with your indulgence there, I had some discussion with Mr. Smith at the break regarding a request I made of Union this morning.  If it pleases the Board, we could deal with that and then break, because then Union may be able to provide some numbers that will be helpful tomorrow and carry on from there.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes, that might be helpful.


Mr. Thompson, how long will you be going tomorrow?


MR. THOMPSON:  Yes, sir.  I expect to be about an hour as well.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Yes, I think, unless you have other ideas, Mr. Smith, I think I will take Mr. Quinn up on his suggestion that we deal with some of the matters that we want to have the witnesses consider overnight, perhaps, and then Mr. Quinn can finish off tomorrow morning, but at least we will start and get some things advanced that will assist us in the morning as well.


MR. SMITH:  No, I think that's a sensible solution, given where we are and what I anticipate will be the length of Mr. Rosenkranz's evidence.  I don't think we are in any danger of not being done the evidentiary portion by lunch break tomorrow, so no concerns at all.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thanks, Mr. Smith.


Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  Yes, and to add to that, to further assist, I can review what Mr. Aiken went through, and that will make -- may cut down some of my time, as I won't need to go over some things that he has covered ably at this point.


But this morning I was trying to get some understanding which would be helpful to the evidence we have put forth and an understanding of what cost allocation methodologies could be available to us in a rebasing situation or, potentially, a better cost allocation methodology for this proceeding, and so I advanced a table that Union had provided in Exhibit B3.65, which is the short- and long-term space contracted, and then that answer did not have data available for 2004/2005, and further in the compendium that I provided this morning I provided two undertakings, K2.3 and K4.5,from the NGEIR proceeding, hoping to assist the process of Union providing comparison.


I understand from Mr. Smith that they have concerns about the comparison.  I would like to work with Union to try to find some way of providing a continuous comparison over those years.


So with that preface I suggest Mr. Smith said Ms. Cameron had some things to add to that comparison.


MR. SMITH:  Well, let me just, maybe with your indulgence, Mr. Quinn, and the Board's indulgence, why don't I just ask Ms. Cameron whether or not it's possible to complete your chart as you have requested it, based on the information Union has available to it.  I have concerns myself about the relevance of it, but let's first get to the whether or not it's possible.


Ms. Cameron?


MS. CAMERON:  Using the information that Mr. Quinn provided earlier -- or late last night or early this morning, those undertakings -- Undertaking K2.3 refers specifically to transactional services sold at market-based rates, and it provides the short-term storage and balancing services margin and the long-term storage balancing service margin, but those responses were limited to transactional services sold at market-based rates.


In 2004 and 2005, Union had not yet transitioned to selling all of our storage services at market-based rates, so this information is not complete and does not show the complete picture of storage sold.


Conversely, the information that we provided for 7, 8, 9 and 10 does include all the storage that we have sold for short-term and long-term storage, including the optimization revenue and space.


So making an apples-to-apples comparison would be difficult using the information that Mr. Quinn provided.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Does that assist you, Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  That assists me, sir.


And I was trying to look for some reasonable comparison, and I understand you are focussing at this point on the space that was sold at market-based, and there is additional space that would not be included in those undertakings; is that accurate?


MS. CAMERON:  Yes.


MR. QUINN:  To the extent that you have the amount that is sold at market-based rates, given that both the short-term and long-term and today's market are sold at market-based rates, could we have those figures anyway as being the amount of space that was sold to market-based rates to compare to the successive years, starting in 2007?


MS. CAMERON:  Sorry, could you repeat the question for me?


MR. QUINN:  I heard your limitation that you had expressed concern about is that this only reflects services or space that was sold at market-based rates.  And I would suggest that 2007 beyond were all -- these -- this space was also sold at market-based rates.  So while we may not have a complete inventory of all space that was available, you have the space that was sold, and that was what our interest was.


So we would accept the amount that was sold at market-based rates for those years, even if there were was more space than was accounted for in those undertakings.


MR. SMITH:  Well, let me just express a reservation about this.


We now know that the information reflected on the undertaking is only that space which was sold at market base rates.  It is important to bear in mind that 2004 and 2005 were both prior to the NGEIR decision.  Subsequent to the NGEIR decision, Union is selling all of its space long-term at market-based rates.


Union has provided the information for 2007 onwards.  This is a 2010 deferral account proceeding, and earnings-sharing, I frankly don't see the relevance of providing the information for 2004 and 2005, when we know it's inaccurate.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn, could you perhaps explain to the Board the purpose of your inquiry, how you intend to put the data to use?


MR. QUINN:  Yes, sir.  In trying to understand the resource optimization that Union has specified, they have placed in evidence that the resource optimization is non-utility assets that are sold completely long-term in the market.


We asked questions about the resource optimization for 2007, and Union's response was they did not forecast any space, any resource optimization space.  So in their cost study for 2007, they did not include a forecast for space.


We believe some of the history would dictate that they ought to have had space that they would forecast for resource optimization, based upon the history that led up to that point.


So the margins that were developed in 2004, '05 and '06 were from market-based storage services in both short-term and long-term, and some of that was generated from resource optimization space.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Smith, I understand your point on the temporal concern here, that we seem to be a ways down the road, but I think you will agree that a lot of what is happening today is based on the world as we saw it in 2007.


So I am not as fussed about going back to 2004 and '05 obviously.  If this is something that is going to assist the intervenor in making a point, I think there is some relevance to it, if it can be pulled together.


MR. SMITH:  Just one moment, please.


This is -- it's a complicated issue, but as I understand it -- and the witnesses can correct me if I am wrong -- but the cost study itself does not forecast optimization space.  What the cost allocation study does is allocate costs associated with physical storage space, so there would be no forecast of optimization space.


So going back to 2004 and 2005, in my submission, is frankly not of any assistance to Mr. Quinn.


Now, we have provided in answer to his B3.40 -- you will recall our earlier game of bingo -- the optimization that Union actually engaged in for the years ended 2006 through to 2010.  So we have provided actual optimization activity going back now five years.


So with respect, I think it's a little bit of apples-and-oranges that we are talking about here, so for that reason, I don't think it advances the discussion.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Quinn, can you respond to that?


MR. QUINN:  Yes, sir.  The optimization space does help in terms of understanding what was available, but we don't know what the outcomes were in terms of the space that was sold.  And so filling in those spaces that were sold -- and I would accept only at market-based rates, if that is the subset of space that you have in these undertakings -- that would at least complete part of the picture for market-based storage.


The other component to maybe make a compromise is our table had asked for total gross revenue.  My understanding is these undertakings speak to margin, so if it were more of an apples-to-apples comparison, we could change the headings to "Short-Term Margin" and "Long-Term Margin" and that would provide an easier population of the table from the data that's available.


MR. QUESNELLE:  But still include the 2004 and '05 in your request?


MR. QUINN:  Yes, sir, because -- as I believe most of that information is right here at our hands.


MR. QUESNELLE:  The relevance question, I believe, is obviously subject to argument at the end, Mr. Smith, if your client does have it readily available.  We don't --


MR. SMITH:  I am not sure that they do, but I don't want to hold this up either.  Why don't we go back and see if we can provide something that would be of assistance to Mr. Quinn, and we will move the matter forward in that way?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Excellent.


Mr. Quinn?


MR. QUINN:  That would be helpful, sir.  Thank you.


MS. SEBALJ:  Is that on undertaking basis or on a best-efforts --


MR. SMITH:  No, no, we will certainly do it as an undertaking.  We will do the best we can.


MS. SEBALJ:  So it is J1.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO QUANTIFY AMOUNT OF SPACE SOLD AT MARKET-BASED RATES COMPARED TO SUCCESSIVE YEARS, STARTING IN 2007.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you have anything else you would like to go on today, Mr. Quinn?  Or would you like to, as you say, go through your notes and parse out anything that's been covered already?


MR. QUINN:  I am in your hands, sir, but I am comfortable with the latter suggestion you made.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Let's do that.  Let's call it a day, and we will start tomorrow morning at 9:30, and you resume where you left off, Mr. Quinn.


Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:25 p.m.
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